

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

Student Works

5-2026

# Does Self-Compassion Buffer Against the Potential Effects of Perfectionism and Psychopathology on Non-Suicidal Self-Injury?

Natasha Bourgoin East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Bourgoin, Natasha, "Does Self-Compassion Buffer Against the Potential Effects of Perfectionism and Psychopathology on Non-Suicidal Self-Injury?" (2026). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 4436. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/4436

This Thesis - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Does Self-Compassion Buffer Against the Potential Effects of Perfectionism and

Psychopathology on Non-Suicidal Self-Injury?

A thesis

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Psychology

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of requirement for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology

by

Natasha Memorial Bourgoin

December 2026

Meredith K. Ginley, Ph.D., Chair

Jameson K. Hirsch, Ph.D.

Ginette Blackhart, Ph.D.

Aubrey R. Dueweke, Ph.D.

Keywords: Self-Compassion; Perfectionism; NSSI; Depression; Anxiety; College Students

### ABSTRACT

## Does Self-Compassion Buffer Against the Potential Effects of Perfectionism and Psychopathology on Non-Suicidal Self-Injury?

by

#### Natasha Memorial Bourgoin

University students with increased rates of reported perfectionism, anxiety, and depression, are vulnerable to non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI). However, not all students with psychological distress engage in NSSI, suggesting protective factors may help to mitigate this risk. The present study examined the relation between perfectionism and NSSI, via the mediating effects of anxiety and depression, and the moderating role of self-compassion. Participants were 338 university students (67% female; 87% White) who completed several self-report measures. Students with greater perfectionism reported higher levels of anxiety and depressive symptoms and, in turn, more NSSI engagement. Self-compassion and several self-compassionate domains attenuated connections between perfectionism and psychopathology and between perfectionism and psychopathology. Addressing NSSI risk factors (e.g., perfectionism and psychopathology) and fostering self-compassion may reduce the risk of heightened anxiety and depression among perfectionists, consequently reducing their likelihood of NSSI engagement.

ABSTRACT	2
LIST OF TABLES	5
LIST OF FIGURES	6
Chapter 1. Introduction	7
Nonsuicidal Self-Injury	9
Perfectionism	18
Depression	23
Anxiety	28
Self-Compassion	34
Present Study	38
Chapter 2. Methods	41
Procedures	41
Participants	41
Measures	42
NSSI	42
Perfectionism	42
Depressive Symptoms	43
Anxiety Symptoms	44
Self-Compassion	44
Statistical Analyses	45
Missing Data	45
Bivariate Analyses	46

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Mediation	46
Moderated Mediation (Conditional Indirect Effects Model)	47
Covariates	48
Chapter 3. Results	49
Demographics	49
Missing Data	50
Bivariate Correlations among Study Variables	50
Parallel Multivariate Mediation Analyses	53
Conditional Indirect Effect Analyses	55
Chapter 4. Discussion	64
Hypothesis 1: Bivariate Associations among Study Variables	64
Hypothesis 2: Parallel Multivariate Mediation Model among Study Variables	68
Hypothesis 3: Moderated Mediation Models among Study Variables	70
Limitations and Future Research	76
Implications	78
Conclusion	81
REFERENCES	83
VITA	135

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Levels of Demographic, Predictor, and Criterion Variables by Total Sample	50
Table 2. Bivariate Correlations of Study Variables	52
Table 3. Direct and Indirect Associations between Perfectionism, Depressive Symptoms,	
Anxiety Symptoms, and NSSI, with Covariates	54
Table 4. Conditional Indirect Effects of Overall Self-Compassion on All Paths of the	
Parallel Mediation Model	56
Table 5. Conditional Indirect Effects of the Protective Components of Self-Compassion	
on All Paths of the Parallel Mediation Model	59
Table 6. Conditional Indirect Effects of the Risk Components of Self-Compassion on	
All Paths of the Parallel Mediation Model	62

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI: Conditional Indirect Effects	
of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms	47
Figure 2. Moderated Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI with Depressive	
and Anxiety Symptoms as Parallel Mediators and Conditional Indirect Effects	
of Self-Compassion	57
Figure 3. Moderated Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI with Depressive	
and Anxiety Symptoms as Parallel Mediators and Conditional Indirect Effects	
of the Protective Components of Self-Compassion	60
Figure 4. Moderated Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI with Depressive	
and Anxiety Symptoms as Parallel Mediators and Conditional Indirect Effects	
of the Risk Components of Self-Compassion	63

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

Non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) is the act of purposefully causing harm to one's body without suicidal intent (Nock & Prinstein, 2004) and may include behaviors such as cutting, scratching, burning, head banging, and self-hitting (Klonsky & Muehlenkamp, 2007). NSSI occurs more frequently in adolescents (12%-47%) and university students (17%-38.9%) than in adults (4%-23%; Cipriano et al., 2017). The most common age of onset is between the ages of 12-14 years (Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2007; Nock et al., 2006), although, among university students who engage in NSSI, about 39% began self-harming between the ages of 17 and 24 years, particularly during their incoming year of college (Taliaferro & Muehlenkamp, 2015). Common experiential risk factors for NSSI include, but are not limited to, a history of child maltreatment, abuse, or family dysfunction, academic and life stress, interpersonal problems and social isolation, and behavioral contributors to NSSI include poor self-esteem and distress tolerance, impulsivity, internalizing symptoms (e.g., depression, anxiety), substance abuse, emotion regulation difficulties, and perfectionistic personality traits (Lauw et al., 2015).

In previous research, perfectionism confers risk for increased vulnerability to NSSI (Chester et al., 2015; Gyori & Balazs, 2021; Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009). Further, associations exist between perfectionism, anxiety, and depression (Einstein et al., 2000; Kawamura et al., 2001) and between these forms of psychopathology and NSSI (Chartrand et al., 2012; Kang et al., 2021; Kokaliari et al., 2017; Robinson et al., 2017; Trainor et al., 2017). However, not all individuals who experience perfectionism or psychopathology engage in NSSI, possibly due to the presence of protective factors, such as self-compassion.

Self-compassion is comprised of six components, including self-kindness versus selfjudgement, common humanity versus isolation, and mindfulness versus overidentification, and is associated with reduced psychopathology and NSSI (Boyne & Hamza, 2021; Cleare et al., 2019; Muris & Petrocchi, 2017; Neff et al., 2019; Per et al., 2022; Suh & Jeong, 2021). Further, selfcompassion serves as a moderator of the linkages between perfectionism and depression and anxiety, suggesting its potential therapeutic role in reducing risk for psychopathology in the context of perfectionism (Abdollahi et al., 2020; Ferrari et al., 2018; Tobin & Dunkley, 2021). In a study of college students, self-compassion also moderated the relation between depression and anxiety, and NSSI (Kaniuka et al., 2020). However, no previous studies have examined the potential moderating effects of self-compassion on the association between perfectionism and NSSI, nor has self-compassion been investigated in the context of an integrative model linking perfectionism and psychopathology to NSSI.

Of note, perfectionism is directly associated with NSSI, and may be indirectly associated via rumination and negative affect, symptoms often present in depression and anxiety (Tonta et al., 2022). However, it remains crucial to understand the mechanisms of action for this association and the role of adaptive characteristics, such as self-compassion, that might buffer the link between perfectionism and psychopathology. As such, we will examine the association between perfectionism and NSSI, and the potential mediating role of depression and anxiety, in a collegiate sample. In addition, we will examine self-compassion, and each of its sub-components, as potential moderators of these associations. In the following sections, we discuss the epidemiology and etiology of non-suicidal self-injury, including risk (i.e., perfectionism, anxiety, depression) and protective factors (i.e., self-compassion) that might contribute to, or buffer against, engagement in NSSI.

### Nonsuicidal Self-Injury

Nonsuicidal self-injury is conceptualized as the purposeful infliction of pain or injury to oneself in ways that are not culturally or socially approved, without the intent to die (Muehlenkamp et al., 2012). NSSI is distinguishable from deliberate self-harm, which is a more comprehensive term that includes self-harming behaviors performed both with and without the intent to die (Muehlenkamp et al., 2012). According to Nock (2010), NSSI can manifest as mild, moderate, and severe forms of self-injury, self-injurious thoughts, or suicide threats and gestures occurring in the absence of suicide intent. Intrapersonal reasons for engaging in NSSI are most common, including regulating distressing emotions, ending prolonged feelings of numbness, and avoiding or escaping negative internal states (Bresin & Gordon, 2013; Taylor et al., 2018). Some individuals may engage in NSSI for interpersonal reasons, such as to punish or communicate their distress to others, although these reasons may be less common (Taylor et al., 2018).

NSSI is a significant public health concern, especially among adolescents and young adults (Klonsky et al., 2014). International lifetime prevalence estimates for NSSI are approximately 17.2% for adolescents [aged 10-17 years], 13.4% for young adults [aged 18-24 years], and 5.5% for adults [aged 25 years or older] (Swannell et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2022). In the United States, the lifetime prevalence rate for NSSI among adults is approximately 6% (Klonsky, 2011). The most common age of onset is around 12 years of age (Cipriano et al., 2017), with prevalence rates typically peaking during middle adolescence (ages 15-16 years) and declining with age (Monto et al., 2018; Plener et al., 2015). The highest prevalence rates among adults are seen in university students, particularly among incoming cohorts (Cipriano et al., 2017; Kiekens et al., 2019), and rates of NSSI have more than doubled among university students between 2007 and 2018 (Duffy et al., 2019). University students may be at elevated risk

for NSSI given the increase in life stressors they typically face during this transitional period, such as leaving home and family, navigating new relationships, and increased academic and financial stress (Kiekens et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2016).

Other sociodemographic factors, such as gender, may also impact the risk for and prevalence of NSSI. Although much of the literature on gender differences has shown that females appear to engage in NSSI more frequently than males (Giletta et al., 2012; Valencia-Agudo et al., 2018), some studies have found comparable rates of NSSI between genders (Swannell et al., 2014). Such inconsistencies may be due to changes in engagement in NSSI across the lifespan; for example, self-harm is more common in females between the ages of 16 and 19, but no identifiable gender differences exist between younger and older individuals (Wilkinson et al., 2022). Female college students are more likely to report using NSSI to regulate emotions, punish themselves, or communicate distress to others, and to experience an uncontrollable urge to self-harm, whereas male students more often identify sensation seeking as the main function of NSSI, and more commonly self-harm when angry or under the influence of substances (Whitlock et al., 2011).

Trends of racial and ethnic differences in NSSI have been documented in previous research, including among adolescents and college students, such that multiracial and Native American individuals tend to have the highest NSSI prevalence rates, followed by White and Hispanic groups, with Black individuals typically having the lowest rates (Eisenberg et al., 2013; Kuentzel et al., 2012; Lipson et al., 2022; Monto et al., 2018). There is evidence to suggest that intersectionality between race/ethnicity and other factors like gender and/or socioeconomic status, play an important role in predicting NSSI prevalence (Gholamrezaei et al., 2017), which may help to explain inconsistent findings (Cipriano et al., 2017; Rojas-Velasquez et al., 2021).

Heritability of NSSI is estimated to be between 40 and 60% (Kaess et al., 2021), with interactions between genes and the environment leading to increased risk for NSSI (Gao et al., 2021; Hankin et al., 2015). Environmental factors, including stress, can also impact neurobiological processes, such as neurotransmission and hormone release, increasing risk for NSSI behaviors (Groschwitz & Plener, 2012; Kaess et al., 2021). For example, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) system produces the stress hormone, cortisol, to help regulate the body's response to stress (Heaney, 2020). However, in those who engage in NSSI, the HPA axis may be hyporesponsive, resulting in maladaptive stress responses and reduced recovery (Kaess et al., 2012; Klimes-Dougan et al., 2019). Relatedly, because of the role endogenous opioids play in counteracting stress responses, it has been hypothesized that deficiencies in the opioidergic system's response to stress may increase NSSI risk (Bresin & Gordon, 2013; Stanley et al., 2010; Valentino & Van Bockstaele, 2015). This hypothesis is based on the belief that NSSI triggers the release of endogenous opioids, leading to the restoration of opioid-homeostasis and, thus, a lowered stress response that serves as an NSSI reinforcer (Bresin & Gordon, 2013).

The opioidergic system also helps to regulate pain and affect (Ribeiro et al., 2005), and endogenous opioids released to regulate pain experienced during NSSI may reduce negative affect (Bresin & Gordon, 2013; Kirtley et al., 2016). Similarly, the serotonergic system plays a role in affect regulation, such that lower serotonin levels are associated with impulsivity and impaired emotion regulation abilities (Fikke et al., 2013). Individuals with low serotonin tend to be reactionary to affective triggers, contributing to engagement in impulsive actions, including NSSI (Carver et al., 2008; Fikke et al., 2013).

Psychosocial factors also contribute to NSSI risk, and psychodynamic models were among the earliest theories used to explain NSSI (Jacobson & Batejan, 2014), including the antisuicide model of NSSI, proposed by Karl Menninger (1938) and predicated on Freud's theorized conflict between life and death drives (Jacobson & Batejan, 2014; Kamen, 2009; Suyemoto, 1998), which posits engagement in NSSI as a compromising act to reduce suicide risk. Across numerous studies, NSSI is conceptualized as a short-term coping mechanism and suicide replacement behavior, although the use of NSSI for this purpose is often related to the highest likelihood of suicidal ideation, behaviors, and attempts (Kraus et al., 2020; Paul et al., 2015; Robinson et al., 2021). Alternatively, according to the defective-self model of NSSI, some individuals engage in NSSI to self-punish or as a means of subduing intrusive self-criticism or negative emotions about themselves (Burke et al., 2021; Glassman et al., 2007; Hooley et al., 2010). This linkage has been supported using ecological momentary assessment with college students (Burke et al., 2021; Muehlenkamp & Brausch, 2016), and more than half of individuals who engage in NSSI report doing so as a form of self-punishment (Klonsky et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2018).

Relatedly, the experiential avoidance (EA) model of NSSI proposes that when a triggering event produces an aversive emotional response, an individual who wishes to avoid the resulting intrusive thoughts and feelings may engage in NSSI as a means of escape (Anderson et al., 2018; Chapman et al., 2006). If engaging in NSSI reduces or eliminates distress, it may become negatively reinforced and, thus, maintained over time, becoming an automatic conditioned response to negative emotional arousal (Chapman et al., 2006). Indeed, in a study of adolescents, greater emotional avoidance was associated with greater frequency of NSSI (Howe et al., 2012). The cognitive-emotional model of NSSI similarly suggests that, in the context of

emotionally volatile situations, individuals with poor emotion regulation skills and who are emotionally reactive may engage in NSSI as a form of avoidance or to alter emotional responses (Hasking et al., 2017). For instance, in a study of college students with poor emotion regulation and weak self-efficacy to resist NSSI, emotional reactivity was linked to NSSI (Dawkins et al., 2019).

During such times of distress, according to the theory of mind, which is the ability to explain and predict behavior by accurately attributing thoughts, feelings, and intent to the self and others (Premack & Woodruff, 1978), stress may hinder emotional awareness and mentalization (Bateman & Fonagy, 2010), perhaps resulting in vulnerability to NSSI. As an example, in a study of inpatient adolescents, compromised theory of mind was related to increased frequency and severity of NSSI (Laghi et al., 2016). Similarly, dysfunction of interpersonal regulatory mechanisms, including difficulty accurately encoding or interpreting social cues, contributes to NSSI risk (Prinstein et al., 2009). This inability to generate, select, or enact adaptive behaviors during interpersonal interactions (i.e., social problem-solving skills), which may be a consequence of previous exposure to stress or trauma, is robustly associated with NSSI (Ammerman et al., 2021; Nock & Mendes, 2008; Prinstein et al., 2009). Further, according to the cognitive-emotional model of NSSI (Hasking et al., 2017), the risk for NSSI may be affected by the expected outcomes of engaging in NSSI and perceived ability to engage in, or resist, NSSI behaviors (Hasking & Rose, 2016). For example, in a longitudinal study of college students, the association between NSSI outcome expectancies (e.g., pain vs emotion regulation expectancy) and NSSI engagement was moderated by self-efficacy to resist NSSI (Dawkins et al., 2021).

Bandura's social learning theory (SLT), which gave rise to the cognitive-emotional model of NSSI, suggests that individuals can learn by observing and imitating others (Bandura & Walters, 1977). Regarding NSSI, SLT has primarily been utilized to investigate the phenomenon of social contagion or the influence of social modeling on NSSI (Muehlenkamp et al., 2008; Whitlock et al., 2006). In studies of inpatient and outpatient groups, for instance, exposure to NSSI among peers and in the media is associated with increased NSSI engagement among those who are exposed (Conigliaro & Ward-Ciesielski, 2021; Muehlenkamp et al., 2008; Zelkowitz et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2016). Relatedly, Nock's (2010) social learning hypothesis of NSSI states that when an individual with underlying psychological vulnerabilities (e.g., emotion regulation difficulties) experiences social exposure to NSSI, they are at increased risk for NSSI engagement. In previous research with university students, for instance, interpersonal exposure to NSSI and poor emotion regulation were associated with frequency and lifetime history of NSSI (Zelkowitz et al., 2017).

Self-determination theory (SDT) integrates external (e.g., social environment) and internal factors (e.g., psychological need satisfaction) to explain personality and human motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2012), including engaging in NSSI. SDT suggests that there are three universal psychological needs necessary for optimal human development and functioning: (1) competence (i.e., effective at achieving goals), (2) autonomy (i.e., having input and freedom of choice), and (3) relatedness (i.e., feeling loved and cared for by significant others), which can be undermined or enhanced by one's social environment and, when satisfied, contribute to autonomous motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2012; Deci & Ryan, 2015). In previous research with adolescents, individuals with a history of NSSI reported lower levels of need satisfaction than individuals without a history of NSSI (Emery et al., 2017). Similarly, in college students, lower

need satisfaction was an independent predictor of NSSI engagement (Emery et al., 2016). From a developmental perspective, when basic psychological needs are thwarted (e.g., lack of parental autonomy support), emotional regulation capabilities may be disrupted, resulting in a greater risk for NSSI (Emery et al., 2017).

Overall, previous research suggests that NSSI is commonly motivated by interpersonal functions, which appear to correspond to the initiation of NSSI, and intrapersonal functions, which appear to be associated with repeated acts of NSSI (Klonsky et al., 2015; Muehlenkamp et al., 2013; Yearwood & Bosnick, 2021). There is an interplay between these functions, such that social stressors tend to trigger aversive internal reactions that individuals may attempt to alleviate through NSSI engagement (Santangelo et al., 2017; Turner et al., 2016). This entanglement of intra- and inter-personal contributors to NSSI is conceptualized by the fourfunction model of NSSI (Hepp et al., 2020; Nock & Prinstein, 2004; Prinstein et al., 2009), which posits that the onset, maintenance, frequency, and cessation of NSSI behavior are dependent on either automatic (i.e., intrapersonal) or social (i.e., interpersonal) contingencies that can be positively or negatively reinforced. The automatic-negative reinforcement function of NSSI serves to reduce negative affect (i.e., stop bad feelings), whereas automatic-positive reinforcement is a process utilized to create internal emotional states (i.e., to feel something; Lloyd-Richardson et al., 2007; Nock & Prinstein, 2004; Prinstein et al., 2009). Although automatic-negative reinforcement is the most endorsed function of NSSI (Hepp et al., 2020), there is also support for the role of social reinforcement function, whereby desirable environmental changes result from NSSI (i.e., positive reinforcement), such as generating a desired response from someone else, (e.g., elicit attention), or escaping or avoiding an

undesirable social demand (i.e., negative reinforcement; Nock & Prinstein, 2004; Prinstein et al., 2009).

Given that the most common reason offered for NSSI engagement is to reduce negative affect (Hepp et al., 2020), researchers have worked to better understand the associations between emotion regulation difficulties and NSSI (Emery et al., 2016; Heath et al., 2008; Muehlenkamp et al., 2010; Kranzler et al., 2016; Tatnell et al., 2017). Affect regulation is a complex process that relies on awareness, understanding, and acceptance of emotions, and the ability to control impulsive behaviors, act in alignment with goals during emotional experiences, and apply appropriate and effective emotion regulation strategies to modify emotions (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). For example, as applied to psychopathology (Larsen et al., 2013; Rogier & Velotti, 2018; Werner et al., 2011), Gross' process model of emotion regulation indicates that there are five points in the emotion generative process, including: (1) situation selection, or choosing to approach or avoid specific stimuli; (2) situation modification, or using problem-focused coping to modify emotional impact; (3) attentional deployment, or attending to specific aspects of the experience; (4) cognitive change, or altering interpretations of, and meaning assigned to, emotional situations; and (5) experiential, behavioral, and physiological response modulation, which involves attempts to influence an emotional reaction once triggered (Gross, 1998a, 1998b, 2002). The first four points are antecedent-focused and occur before an emotional response tendency is activated, thus impacting behavior and physiological responses, and the fifth point is response-focused, occurring after an emotion has been triggered (Gross, 2002).

A conceptual framework of NSSI as an emotion regulation strategy, based on Gross' process model of emotion regulation, indicates that NSSI may be used during situation selection to avoid situations that might increase distress; during situation modification to evoke care from

others, project strength, or modify the demands of others; during attentional deployment to distract oneself by shifting focus to self-harming behavior, interrupt unwanted thoughts, or reduce rumination; during cognitive change to punish oneself or to shift one's view of self to low-order awareness; and, during response modulation to increase endogenous opioid release or decrease parasympathetic nervous system activation (Mckenzie & Gross, 2014).

When individuals struggle to regulate emotions, healthy coping strategies may be insufficient to distract from or regulate negative emotions, which may lead to engagement in increasingly intense, even maladaptive, coping behaviors, including NSSI (Selby & Joiner, 2009). This concept is illustrated by Linehan's biosocial theory (1993), which posits that NSSI serves as an emotion regulation strategy in the context of psychopathology, particularly borderline personality disorder (BPD). Per this theory, individuals with BPD lack adaptive emotion and behavior regulation skills, which may lead to NSSI engagement as an attempt to modify intense emotional reactions (In-Albon et al., 2013; Linehan, 1993; Wolff et al., 2019).

To better explain the connection between emotion dysregulation and dysregulated behaviors seen in individuals with BPD, Selby and Joiner (2009) proposed the emotional cascade model (ECM), which suggests that ruminative processes link emotional and behavioral dysregulation through emotional cascades. During an "emotional cascade," individuals may experience positive feedback loops, where rumination on negative emotions or thoughts increases negative affect, thus cyclically increasing attention given to emotional stimuli, with consequent exacerbation of negative affect and rumination (Selby & Joiner, 2009). Due to the intensity of the ruminative process, typically effective emotion regulation strategies (e.g., cognitive reappraisal, healthy distractions) may fail to disrupt the emotional cascade, leading to engagement in behaviors that, although maladaptive, may be intense enough to shift attention

away from ruminative thoughts to, for example, physical sensations (e.g., pain, sight of blood, effects of drugs), providing temporary relief from negative emotions (Selby & Joiner, 2009). Ruminative processes and intense negative emotions, when coupled with poor distress tolerance, are predictive of NSSI engagement (Selby et al., 2013; Slabbert et al., 2018) and serve as mechanisms of action between some psychopathological factors (e.g., perfectionism, stress, anxiety, depression) and NSSI (Richmond et al., 2017; Tonta et al., 2022).

### Perfectionism

Perfectionism, which is conceptualized as having excessively high standards for one's performance and being exceedingly self-critical (Frost et al., 1990; Gyori & Balazs, 2021), is a multidimensional construct consisting of an array of intra- and inter-personal components (Hewitt & Flett, 1991). Frost (1990), in his classic model, identified six dimensions of perfectionism, including concerns over mistakes (i.e., negative reaction to mistakes or feeling like a failure), doubts about actions (i.e., doubting performance ability), parental criticism (i.e., parents are perceived as overly critical), parental expectations (i.e., parents perceived to hold high, unrealistic performance standards), personal standards (i.e., having unreasonably high performance standards for self), and organization (i.e., over-valuing order, precision, or neatness). Later, Hewitt and Flett (1991) proposed a model identifying three dimensions of perfectionism, including self-oriented perfectionism (SOP; i.e., having excessively high standards for oneself and being overly self-critical), socially prescribed perfectionism (SPP; i.e., one's perception that others expect perfection from them and will be overly critical), and otheroriented perfectionism (OOP; i.e., having excessively high standards for others and being overly critical). SOP and SPP focus on self-criticism, whereas other-oriented perfectionists focus on criticizing others that do not meet the high standards prescribed to them (Xie et al., 2019). Of the

two self-critical dimensions of perfectionism, SOP has been associated with both adaptive (e.g., achievement motivation, self-efficacy, positive affect) and maladaptive (e.g., symptoms of depression) outcomes, whereas SPP is only associated with negative outcomes (e.g., symptoms of depression, trait anger, increased suicide risk, procrastination; Xie et al., 2019). Findings from a longitudinal collegiate study indicate that perfectionism has increased over time, and recent generations believe others have higher expectations of them (i.e., SPP), and they have higher expectations of themselves (i.e., SOP) and others (i.e., OOP; Curran & Hill, 2019).

Factor analysis of these two main models of perfectionism yields two primary factors, including maladaptive perfectionism or perfectionistic concerns (i.e., fear of failing or making a mistake and being negatively evaluated) and adaptive perfectionism or perfectionistic strivings (i.e., having high performance standards for oneself; Frost et al., 1993). According to meta-analytic findings, perfectionistic concerns are related to more maladaptive outcomes (e.g., depression, anxiety, obsessive-compulsive disorder, suicidal ideation, negative affect, stress, burnout, and procrastination), whereas perfectionistic strivings are related to more adaptive outcomes (e.g., positive affect, academic achievement, better sports performance; Limburg et al., 2017; Madigan, 2019). However, meta-analytic findings have also shown that both perfectionistic concerns and strivings are positively associated with psychological distress (e.g., worry, rumination, distress; Xie et al., 2019) and psychopathology, including depression, anxiety disorders, OCD, and bulimia nervosa (Limburg et al., 2017). Indeed, the adaptive and maladaptive dimensions of perfectionism are positively associated, have significant overlap, and exert a bidirectional reinforcing effect on one another (Limburg et al., 2017).

Multiple theories have been developed to conceptualize perfectionism, and related traits and behaviors, including use of the Big Five, or five-factor model (FFM) of personality (Hill et

al., 1997). The FFM of personality organizes personality traits into five broad domains, including neuroticism, extraversion, openness to experience, agreeableness, and conscientiousness (McCrae & Costa, 1987). In a meta-analysis, neuroticism and conscientiousness had the most robust linkage with perfectionism, such that perfectionistic concerns are predominantly characterized by neuroticism and perfectionistic strivings by conscientiousness (Smith et al., 2019). Individuals with elevated perfectionistic concerns are more likely to be worrisome, emotional, insecure, jealous, and engage in dysfunctional thinking and maladaptive coping, like those with anxiety and depression, whereas individuals with perfectionistic strivings are typically responsible, thorough, efficient, and self-disciplined (Smith et al., 2019).

According to social learning theory, perfectionism may be predicated on early childhood experiences and parental behaviors (Flett et al., 2002) and may arise from observing and imitating others (Bandura & Walters, 1977). In this manner, perfectionistic traits may develop through interactions between a child's personality and their family and school environment (Bandura, 1986). Specifically, if a child's social environment has expectations of perfection and is critical of failure, the child may develop high self-expectations and become increasingly self-critical, resulting in internalized perfectionistic expectations that are reinforced when excellence is achieved (Cole et al., 2001). Children also often imitate and adopt evaluative standards modeled to them, including self-evaluative behaviors modeled by adults (Flett et al., 2002). In previous research of parent-child dyads, parental and child SOP and SPP were associated, providing support for the social learning perspective of perfectionism development (Curran et al., 2020).

Given the associations between SOP and SPP, and worry and rumination, the perfectionism cognitive theory (PCT) implicates the repetitive cognitive process of rumination,

about mistakes made, past events, and social comparisons, and frequent negative automatic thoughts about the need to be perfect, as catalysts of perfectionism, and suggests that such patterns of thinking may stem from self-doubt and need for self-acceptance (Flett et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2019). Over time these negative thought patterns can exacerbate stress-related responses in perfectionists, resulting in an increased risk for developing mental (e.g., depression and anxiety) and physical health problems (e.g., cardiovascular disease, weakened immune system, poorer sleep; Flett et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2019). Meta-analytic mediation analyses have found support for this contributing role of worry and rumination in the relationship between perfectionism and distress in clinical and non-clinical populations (i.e., university students; Abdollahi, 2019; De Rosa et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2019).

More recently, researchers have begun examining perfectionism through a motivational lens, including self-determination theory (SDT) which, as previously mentioned, is a theory of motivation which posits that motivation (e.g., autonomous vs controlled) is based on social settings and individual characteristics (Deci & Ryan, 2015; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Autonomous motivation is the desire to engage in a self-determined behavior as it relates to one's goals or values, whereas controlled motivation is the pressure to engage in a behavior to gain reward/approval or avoid punishment (Deci & Ryan, 2015). According to SDT, all individuals have three basic psychological needs (i.e., competency, autonomy, relatedness) that, when satisfied, increase autonomous motivation, which can improve wellbeing, including psychological health (Deci & Ryan, 2015; Liu et al., 2022). Regarding perfectionism, perfectionistic strivings tend to be associated with autonomous motivation, whereas perfectionistic concerns are associated with controlled motivation (Harvey et al., 2015; Stoeber et al., 2018). Further, in undergraduates, controlled motivation often predicts avoidant behaviors

associated with perfectionism, whereas autonomous motivation predicts more reward-focused behaviors (Moore et al., 2018). Such patterns of effects help expand our understanding of the association between perfectionism and psychopathology, including NSSI (Duncan-Plummer et al., 2023).

In previous research, perfectionistic individuals report reluctance to ask for assistance, and increased social disconnection, rumination, and emotional dysregulation, which contribute to their vulnerability for the development of psychopathology (Donahue et al., 2018; Flett & Hewitt, 2013; Hewitt et al., 2017; Rudolph et al., 2007). For example, across studies and metaanalyses, perfectionistic concerns are associated with social anxiety, body dissatisfaction and disordered eating, bulimia nervosa, anxiety, depression, suicidal ideation, and self-harm (Limburg et al., 2017). Important for our study, there has been a growing interest in the association between perfectionism and NSSI, given that both are predicated on cognitive processes, such as rumination and worry, associated with emotion dysregulation (Duncan-Plummer et al., 2023; Malivoire et al., 2019), and linked to an array of internalizing and externalizing psychopathologies (Gyori & Balazs, 2021). Maladaptive perfectionism is associated with engagement in NSSI behaviors, with concern over mistakes made and perceived parental criticism as the strongest predictors (Gyori & Balazs, 2021). Similar results have been found in samples of adolescents (Luyckx et al., 2015), adults (Claes et al., 2012), and college students (Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009).

Of note, in a study of Chinese adolescents, psychological distress, including depression, anxiety, and stress, mediated the association between maladaptive perfectionism and NSSI and, further, maladaptive perfectionists often utilized NSSI as a coping strategy to reduce negative affect (Gu et al., 2022). This may be because maladaptive perfectionists experience negative

affect in the context of critical feedback and goal failure, as seen among college students, and may believe that self-harm will alleviate affective distress (Chester et al., 2015). Indeed, when maladaptive perfectionists, who often have poor emotional awareness, encounter perceived failure-based emotional experiences, they may manifest elevated and prolonged negative affect, contributing to dysfunctional emotion regulation and consequent distress (Malivoire et al., 2019). Given that rumination is also implicated in the association between perfectionism and affective distress (Flett et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2019), and since rumination and affective distress play key roles in the emotional cascade model of NSSI (Selby & Joiner, 2009), it may be that perfectionism is a catalyst for the emotional cascades that lead to NSSI engagement which, itself, may serve as an emotion regulation strategy to divert attention from distress (Tonta et al., 2022).

### Depression

In addition to NSSI, perfectionism is strongly associated with various psychopathologies, including depression (Smith et al., 2016), one of the most common mental health disorders worldwide, impacting 3.8% of the population (WHO, 2021). In the United States, 8.4% of adults experience at least one major depressive episode each year (U.S. DHHS, 2020). A variety of symptoms comprise major depressive disorder (MDD), the broadest depression diagnosis, including low mood, loss of interest or pleasure in most activities, significant changes in weight or appetite, problems with sleep, agitated or retarded psychomotor activity, low energy, feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt, diminished ability to concentrate, and recurrent thoughts of death or suicide (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Sociodemographic differences in the epidemiology of major depressive disorder exist, with a higher annual prevalence among females (10.5%) than males (6.2%) and with the highest prevalence rate manifesting in young adults ages 18 to 25 (17.0%) (U.S. DHHS, 2020). Some

populations may be at greater risk for depression than others, including college students, for whom rates have increased about 34% in less than a decade (i.e., 2011-2018; Duffy et al., 2019). In an annual survey of U.S. college students from 2021-2022, 44% of students reported symptoms of depression, the highest rates recorded in the study's 15-year history (Healthy Minds Network, 2023). Regarding race/ethnicity, lower rates of depression have been found in Black, Asian/Pacific Islander, and Hispanic adults, than in White adults (Hasin et al., 2018). Socioeconomic status (SES) also plays a role, with a higher prevalence of depression in those with low incomes (Hasin et al., 2018).

Several prominent theories have been developed to explain the etiology, maintenance, and recurrence of depression, including theories emphasizing biological (Ferrari & Villa, 2016), behavioral (Leventhal, 2008; Lewinsohn & Gotlib, 1995), and cognitive factors (LeMoult & Gotlib, 2019). To begin, an increasing body of research indicates a genetic and familial basis for depression, with estimates of heritability for MDD ranging from 35-40% (Otte et al., 2016; Pomohaibo et al., 2019), although genetic and familial risk decline with increased age of first diagnosed depressive episode (Wium et al., 2020). In addition, several pathophysiological factors are believed to contribute to depression (Brigitta, 2022). For example, the monoamine hypothesis, also known as the chemical imbalance theory, suggests that deficient levels of specific neurotransmitters, including serotonin (5HT), norepinephrine (NE), and dopamine (DA) are, in part, responsible for the development of an array of depressive symptoms, including depressed mood, hyperarousal, amotivation, low energy, and psychomotor abnormalities (Jesulola et al., 2018) and, as previously noted, serotonin and dopamine are also implicated in NSSI engagement (Bissonette & Roesch, 2016; Fikke et al., 2013). In previous research, depression is also linked to reduced hippocampal gray matter volume and reduced neural activity in the cognitive control (i.e., appraisal of negative stimuli) and affective-salience (i.e., control of behavior related to emotional and cognitive stimuli) networks (Otte et al., 2016). It is important to note, however, that expression of biological and genetic vulnerabilities to depression often occurs in the context of stressful life events and may be complicated by environmental and inter- and intra-personal risk factors (Brigitta, 2022; Lopizzo et al., 2015), all of which can contribute to HPA axis hyperactivity, leading to functional and structural changes in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and amygdala, and consequent emergence of depressive symptoms (Jesulola et al., 2018).

Given the role that life experiences and environment play in the development of depression, behaviorists tend to focus on the role of operant conditioning (Carvalho & Hopko, 2011), which is the process by which reward and punishment are used to modify behaviors (Skinner, 1938). The behavioral theory of depression posits that depression develops, is maintained, or worsened by environmental factors and engagement in avoidance behaviors (e.g., attempts to prevent, escape, or reduce unwanted or non-rewarding internal or external stimuli) that prevent the experience of reward and reinforcement (Carvalho & Hopko, 2011; Lewinsohn, 1974). Additionally, depression contributes to social isolation, further decreasing opportunities to receive positive reinforcement (Carvalho & Hopko, 2011; Lewinsohn, 1974).

The link between depression and avoidance, including the role of reduced positive reinforcement, is well-documented, particularly in the context of avoidant coping (Carvalho & Hopko, 2011). Avoidant coping refers to cognitive and behavioral processes utilized to shift focus away from certain internal or external stimuli to regulate, mitigate, or eliminate distress (Cronkite & Moos, 1995). Increased engagement in cognitive and behavioral avoidance is

associated with more severe depressive symptoms (Carvalho & Hopko, 2011) and, when cooccurring with worry and rumination, is predictive of the development and trajectory of depressive disorders (Spinhoven et al., 2016). Decreasing avoidant coping through engagement in goal-oriented behaviors not only results in positive reinforcement but also decreases levels of distress, including depressive symptoms (Carvalho & Hopko, 2011).

The learned helplessness model, proposed by Martin Seligman (1972), is also a welldocumented behavioral theory of depression and is based on principles of classical conditioning (Maier & Seligman, 2016). Classical conditioning posits that when an unconditioned stimulus is repeatedly paired with a conditioned stimulus, evoking an unconditioned response, then a conditioned response results (Pavlov, 1927). The learned helplessness model of depression suggests that repeated exposure to uncontrollable aversive events (e.g., extreme stressors) can lead to the belief that the aversive events are inescapable, promoting feelings of helplessness and consequent depression (Maier & Seligman, 1976; Seligman, 1972).

Because Seligman's learned helplessness model failed to account for cognitive aspects of depression, Abramson, Seligman, and Teasdale (1978) reformulated the theory to account for the role of thoughts, renaming it the hopelessness theory of depression. Building upon the learned helplessness model, the hopelessness theory of depression asserts that individuals form causal attributions in response to negative life experiences, along three dimensions including internal to external, stable to unstable, and global to specific (Abramson et al., 1989; Abramson et al., 1978; Liu et al., 2015). According to this theory, individuals who attribute negative life experiences to internal, stable, and global causes are more likely to develop depression because they believe they are unable to make positive changes (Liu et al., 2015).

Such maladaptive and irrational thoughts are well-established contributors to the onset and treatment of depression (LeMoult & Gotlib, 2019). For instance, Albert Ellis proposed a cognitive-behavioral model of depression, the ABC three stage model, which suggests that an (A) internal or external activating event triggers (B) rational/functional or irrational/dysfunctional beliefs or thoughts, which then leads to (C) adaptive or maladaptive emotional or behavioral consequences (Ellis, 1962). Therapeutically, the ABC model of depression suggests that modifying irrational/dysfunctional thoughts can lead to a positive change in related feelings and behaviors (Ellis, 1979) and, when enacted, knowledge and application of this approach can improve symptoms of depression and anxiety, and increase hope and self-esteem, among adolescents (Sælid & Nordahl, 2017).

Similarly, Aaron Beck (1967) developed a cognitive theory of depression comprising three mechanisms, including faulty information processing biases, negative self-schemas, and the cognitive triad. According to Beck, depressed individuals hold negatively themed mood-related schemas (e.g., loss, failure, worthlessness, rejection), which perhaps develop from adverse childhood experiences, that lead to faulty information processing biases and the development of negative beliefs about themselves, the world, and the future (the cognitive triad; LeMoult & Gotlib, 2019). These negative thoughts about the self, others, and the world are typically automatic, repetitive, and ruminative, and contribute to the development, maintenance, and exacerbation of depressive symptoms (Piraman et al., 2016; Whisman et al., 2020). Ruminative individuals tend to recall more negative past events, interpret current situations more negatively, and experience greater negative affect and hopelessness (Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001). Rumination also disrupts cognitive control processes (Beckwé et al., 2014; Zareian et al., 2021), including the ability to engage in adaptive behaviors and effective problem-solving while avoiding

distraction by undesirable thoughts (Alderman et al., 2015), perhaps contributing to engagement in NSSI behaviors (Selby et al., 2013; Selby & Joiner, 2009).

The significant overlap between cognitive models of depression and perfectionism, including the reciprocal association between negative thoughts and irrational beliefs, has led many researchers to examine the linkage between these two constructs. For example, in a review by Say (2020), several maladaptive cognitive mechanisms are identified, including that perfectionists: 1) struggle to create supportive social connections because they do not believe they deserve support from others, leading to social isolation, 2) tend to avoid experiences that could lead to distress due to self-criticism or perceived criticism from others, and 3) often have negative beliefs about emotions, promoting emotion suppression, all of which increase the risk for depression among adults (Moroz & Dunkley, 2015) and university students (Gnilka & Broda, 2019; Tran & Rimes, 2017).

### Anxiety

Maladaptive perfectionism is also strongly related to anxiety (Bardone-Cone et al., 2017; Limburg et al., 2017), the most common mental health disorder, impacting 1 in 13 people worldwide (WHO, 2021). In the United States, 19% of adults are diagnosed with an anxiety disorder annually and 31% in their lifetime (U.S. DHHS, 2020). There are many types of anxiety disorders, including social anxiety disorder, panic disorder, phobias, and general anxiety disorder (GAD), which is the most common form of anxiety disorder and is characterized by persistent, excessive, and uncontrollable fear or worry about non-life-threatening situations, restlessness or feeling on edge, being easily fatigued, difficulty concentrating or mind going blank, irritability, muscle tension, and sleep disturbance (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Sociodemographic differences in the epidemiology of anxiety exist, with greater prevalence among females (23.4%) than males (14.3%) but similar prevalence rates across age groups (U.S. DHHS, 2020). The prevalence of GAD peaks in middle-aged adults and typically declines in older adulthood (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), and is the most common mental health concern among college students, with nearly 40% of students reporting anxiety symptoms (Mistler et al., 2012; Beiter et al., 2015). Regarding race/ethnicity, White individuals are more likely to experience GAD than Black, Asian, Native American, and Pacific Islander individuals, in the United States (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Like depression, the most prominent etiological theories of anxiety focus on biological (Kim & Gorman, 2005; Steimer, 2022), behavioral (Freeman & Freeman, 2012), and cognitive factors (Clark & Beck, 2010). To begin, biological theories of anxiety have primarily focused on neuro-receptor systems in the brain and related neurotransmitters, including gamma-amino butyric acid (GABA), serotonin, norepinephrine, and glutamate (Kim & Gorman, 2005). For example, GABA is an inhibitory neurotransmitter that regulates symptoms of anxiety by counterbalancing the excitatory effects of glutamate, meaning that when GABA levels decrease, glutamate levels increase, contributing to anxiety symptoms (Kaur & Singh, 2017). Similarly, increased levels of serotonin, or 5-HT, which can be activated by fear or stress, is associated with greater anxiety, and plays a role in depression and NSSI engagement (Fikke et al., 2013; Jesulola et al., 2018). Norepinephrine (NE), which is released under chronic stress conditions, also plays a role in anxiety, such that elevated levels of NE are associated with symptoms of anxiety (Goddard et al., 2010). Relatedly, NE deficiencies are implicated in the development of depression (Jesulola et al., 2018), perhaps helping to explain the comorbidity between the two disorders (Coplan et al., 2015).

Anxiety also has a genetic component, with twin studies indicating moderate heritability, between 30 and 50% (Craske et al., 2017; Meier & Deckert, 2019). First-degree relatives of individuals with a particular anxiety disorder (e.g., generalized anxiety disorder) are at an increased risk for the development of any anxiety disorder (Meier & Deckert, 2019). Genetic risk factors interact with environmental factors to predict the development of anxiety disorders (Craske et al., 2017), such that even when genetic factors are covaried, a parent-child anxiety association remains, suggesting a partial environmental role in the onset of anxiety (Elay et al., 2015).

Given the critical role of environmental factors in the development of anxiety, researchers have utilized behavioral theories to better understand the role of learned behavior in the etiology of anxiety (Freeman & Freeman, 2012). As with depression, classical conditioning is a common behavioral theory used to explain the development of anxiety disorders (De Houwer, 2020), asserting that when a neutral and aversive stimulus are repeatedly paired, the neutral stimulus eventually independently elicits anticipatory anxious responses (Lissek et al., 2014). The application of classical conditioning to the etiology of anxiety posits that individuals learn to fear neutral objects or situations due to their previous pairing with a more frightening scenario (Freeman & Freeman, 2012).

Additionally, anxious responses may be maintained and exacerbated through avoidance behaviors, which inhibit an individual from learning new information that may disconfirm anxiety-provoking beliefs, like the experiential avoidance model (Chapman et al., 2006; Rudaz et al., 2017). Relatedly, the two-factor theory of avoidance suggests that anxiety develops through classical conditioning and is then reinforced by operant conditioning (Krypotos et al., 2015; Mowrer, 1951). For example, phobias and other psychopathologies, such as post-traumatic stress

disorder (Foa et al., 1989), may develop via classical conditioning but are then reinforced and maintained through avoidance behaviors that are considered rewarding and, thus, likely to be repeated (Krypotos et al., 2015). However, in previous research, exposure to feared/avoided stimuli using approach strategies significantly reduces or extinguishes anxiety levels (Craske et al., 2014; Kaczkurkin & Foa, 2015).

From a cognitive perspective, anxiety disorders develop when an individual feels vulnerable to potential physical or psychological threats, and experiences distorted beliefs that overestimate threats to safety or security (Beck & Clark, 1997; Deacon & Abramowitz, 2004). Beck and colleagues (1985) developed a "schema-based information processing" model, which suggests that anxious individuals have a selective bias for threat potential when it comes to attention, interpretation, and memories, contributing to maladaptive emotional states (Beck & Clark, 1997; Clark & Beck, 2010). Early adverse childhood experiences can contribute to the development of dysfunctional schemas which, when triggered by stress, result in cognitive biases that become increasingly difficult to control over time, and may lead to the development of anxiety (Clark & Beck, 2010).

An alternative cognitive theory, the four-factor theory, was proposed by Eysenck (1997), and conceptualizes anxiety as an emotional state that is dependent on cognitive processes, and is predicated on (1) external stimuli, (2) physiological stimuli, (3) one's behavior, and (4) one's cognitions (i.e., worries about the future; Eysenck, 2000). Attentional and interpretive processes are also components of this theory, such that anxious individuals are believed to have a selective attentional bias with a tendency to focus on threat-related, rather than neutral, stimuli, and interpretive bias with a tendency to interpret ambiguous stimuli as threatening, rather than neutral (Eysenck, 2000). Supporting this theory, in previous research, undergraduate students

high in trait anxiety and low in defensiveness showed an attentional bias toward threatening stimuli (Ioannou et al., 2004).

Given the similar mechanisms underlying anxiety and perfectionism, several cognitive models have been developed to explore their association. For example, Ellis (2002) proposed that perfectionists develop anxiety because they hold unattainable ideals about well-being or survival (i.e., accomplishment, self-approval, and security) and, when these are not forthcoming, experience negative appraisals of failure, reduced problem-solving ability, and increased vulnerability to anxiety (Klibert et al., 2015). Flett and colleagues (2016) expanded this conceptualization, via the cognitive theory of perfectionism, which asserts that perfectionists experience negative automatic thoughts about their idealistic standards, excessively ruminate on past mistakes and failures, and engage in social comparison, all of which are cognitive behaviors associated with depression and anxiety (Fernandez & Mairal, 2017; Olatunji et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2019).

Indeed, there is a growing body of support, including in undergraduates, linking perfectionism to anxiety and depression (Kawamura et al., 2001; Limburg et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017), which are themselves often comorbid; for instance, 45.7% of individuals with diagnosed depression also experience anxiety, and 20-70% of those with an anxiety disorder also experience depression (Kalin, 2020). The linkages between these variables may be due to the presence of shared cognitive and affective constructs, including rumination and negative automatic thoughts, avoidance, distress intolerance, and emotion regulation deficits (Benfer et al., 2017; Berking et al., 2014; Buschmann et al., 2018; Dickson & MacLeod, 2004; Olatunji et al., 2013), which are also independent contributors to risk for NSSI (Andover & Morris, 2014; Coleman et al., 2022; Haywood et al., 2023; Slabbert et al., 2018). For example, in an ecological

momentary assessment study among adolescents and young adults, feelings of anxiety and being overwhelmed were predictive of NSSI behavior, and this association was exacerbated by rumination (Hughes et al., 2019).

The emotional cascade model, proposed by Selby and Joiner (2009), seems best suited for conceptualizing the shared cognitive constructs underlying anxiety, depression, and NSSI and posits that ruminating on negative emotions or thoughts increases negative affect and cyclically promotes additional rumination, creating an "emotional cascade." To avoid experiencing negative affect, individuals will engage in an "intense enough" emotion regulation strategy, such as NSSI, to shift their attention away from ruminative thoughts to a focus on physical sensations (Selby & Joiner, 2009). As previously discussed, this model has been used to examine perfectionism as a mechanism that increases risk for NSSI (Tonta et al., 2022). Perfectionists who ruminate on mistakes made, past failures, and social comparisons may develop symptoms of depression and anxiety, resulting in increased negative affect (Fernandez & Mairal, 2017; Flett et al., 2016; Olatunji et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2019), and further consequent rumination and negative affect (Alderman et al., 2015; Fernandez & Mairal, 2017; Olatunji et al., 2013; Piraman et al., 2016; Whisman et al., 2020). In university students with low distress tolerance, there is a greater likelihood of avoiding negative affect by engaging in an emotion regulation strategy such as NSSI (Slabbert et al., 2018).

Given the association between maladaptive perfectionism, a construct comprising critical self-evaluation, and negative mental health outcomes, including depression and anxiety, it is possible that a regulatory protective characteristic, such as self-compassion, may be capable of enhancing emotion regulation abilities and buffering self-criticism, thereby mitigating the

deleterious linkage between perfectionism and psychopathology (Himmerich & Orcutt, 2021; Kaniuka et al., 2020; Pedro et al., 2019).

#### **Self-Compassion**

Self-compassion, a construct derived from Buddhist philosophy, refers to an all-inclusive compassion for oneself during times of distress, including perceived failure, inadequacy, or personal suffering (Neff, 2003a; Neff, 2023). First conceptualized as a multifaceted construct by Kristin Neff (2003a), self-compassion comprises three domains, including (1) how one emotionally reacts to personal suffering (with kindness or criticism), (2) how one cognitively perceives their circumstances (as part of the human experience or as isolating), and (3) how one observes adversity (mindfully or in an overly identified way; Neff, 2003b; Neff, 2016). Each domain ranges from a non-self-compassionate to a self-compassionate response to distressing experiences (Neff, 2022), including self-kindness versus self-judgement, common humanity versus isolation, and mindfulness versus over-identification (Neff, 2003b). Although other conceptualizations of self-compassion have been proposed, such as the social mentality theory (Gilbert, 2005), which states that distress triggers one's care-seeking mentality and results in self-compassion, Neff's multifaceted conceptualization has remained the most widely used by researchers (Cleare et al., 2018).

Modern self-compassion theory is derived from several classic perspectives, including humanistic and emotion regulation theories and our understanding of the process of self-empathy (Neff, 2003a). For example, according to Judith Jordan, self-empathy is a corrective process involving the adoption of a nonjudgmental self-perspective and re-evaluation of previously rejected aspects of the self, using a caring and emotionally grounded approach (Jordan, 1984; Jordan, 1991). Conceptually similar to self-compassion, self-empathy may develop by

internalizing empathy received from others or by internalizing empathy given to others perceived to be self-similar (Sherman, 2014).

Across humanistic theories, concepts related to self-compassion, such as unconditional positive self-regard (Rogers, 1959) and unconditional self-acceptance (Ellis, 1977), are routinely acknowledged (Neff, 2003a). Unconditional positive self-regard is the adoption of a nondiscriminatory view of all personal experiences (Rogers, 1959) and is related to greater wellbeing in adults (Flannagan et al., 2015; Murphy et al., 2015). Similarly, an unconditional acceptance of the self, despite the disapproval of others or failure to adhere to standards (Ellis, 1977), is associated with lower levels of depression and anxiety in adults (Chamberlain & Haaga, 2001a) and university students (Chamberlain & Haaga, 2001b; Flett et al., 2003). Of note, these classic humanistic concepts emphasize an individualistic perspective whereas, in contrast, Neff's conceptualization of self-acceptance, as a component of self-compassion, focuses on shared humanity and encourages connection with others (Neff, 2003a).

Indeed, the developmental origins of self-compassion may be predicated on one's relationships with primary caregivers in early childhood and is impacted by attachment styles (Gilbert, 2009; Neff & McGehee, 2010; Pepping et al., 2015). For instance, sensitive parenting promotes the ability to react self-compassionately and to self-soothe during times of distress, whereas inconsistent or rejecting parenting results in self-criticism and less self-compassion (Neff & McGehee, 2010). This may be important, given that perceived parental criticism is a robust predictor of NSSI engagement (Gyori & Balazs, 2021). Similarly, Gilbert (2009) proposed that individuals develop "social mentalities," whereby individuals relate to themselves as they were originally taught to relate to others. Regarding self-compassion, if a child seeks and then obtains care and compassion from a caretaker, then that social mentality is reinforced,
whereas if they receive a negative response (e.g., rejection, ignoring, humiliation) then the social mentality is weakened (Gilbert, 2009). For example, in previous research, greater maternal support and positive family functioning were related to increased self-compassion in adolescents and young adults (Neff & McGehee, 2010), and greater caregiver rejection and over-protection were related to self-criticism in college students (Irons et al., 2006). Finally, in a study by Pepping and colleagues (2015), higher levels of caregiver rejection and over-protection, and lower levels of caregiver warmth in childhood were predictive of low self-compassion in adulthood.

Self-compassion may confer benefits by reducing negative automatic thoughts, mitigating emotional avoidance, decreasing over-identification with negative feelings, and improving emotion regulation abilities (Neff, 2023). For example, as an emotion regulation strategy, self-compassion may work by catalyzing a shift from negative thoughts and feelings about the self (i.e., focus on inadequacies, past failures, and mistakes) toward more positive thoughts and emotions about the self (i.e., viewing oneself with kindness and acceptance; Neff & Dahm, 2015). Rather than avoidance, self-compassion promotes embracing negative thoughts and emotions, perhaps via its mindfulness component, which may be particularly useful for perfectionists (Neff & Dahm, 2015; Tobin & Dunkley, 2021). Mindfulness, in the context of self-compassion, decreases over-identification, a construct similar to rumination, and cognitive fusion, in which individuals become fixated or fused to their negative thoughts and emotions, by helping individuals to non-judgmentally notice and accept experiences of suffering without becoming entangled with or absorbed by them (Fresnics & Borders, 2017).

Broadly, self-compassion is associated with greater psychological well-being (e.g., life satisfaction, optimism, wisdom, happiness, self-initiation, emotional intuition, and interpersonal

connection) and reduced psychopathology (e.g., depression, anxiety, NSSI, suicidal ideation, and perceived stress), with moderate to large effect sizes in both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of adolescent, adult, and collegiate samples (Cleare et al., 2019; Ferrari et al., 2019; Hughes et al., 2021; Marsh et al., 2018; Neff, 2023; Neff et al., 2007; Suh & Jeong, 2021). Further, self-compassion serves as a buffer against the development of anxiety and depression, in the context of psychosocial risk factors, including perfectionism (Abdollahi et al., 2020; Adams et al., 2023; Callow et al., 2021; Carvalho et al., 2019; Egan et al., 2021).

The sub-domains of self-compassion have a similar impact, with self-compassionate responses (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, mindfulness) buffering against, and non-selfcompassionate responses (i.e., self-judgement, isolation, over-identification) exacerbating risk for, psychological distress (Tobin & Dunkley, 2021). For example, in patients with current and remitted major depressive disorder, greater self-judgment was associated with recurrent lifetime depression (Ehret et al., 2015) and, similarly, in a sample of community adults, self-judgement, isolation, and over-identification were stronger predictors of depression than self-compassionate responses (López et al., 2018). Non-self-compassionate responses (i.e., self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification) were also associated with increased risk for NSSI amongst adults, university students (Per et al., 2021) and adolescents (Xavier et al., 2016). Finally, perfectionism is associated with greater self-judgement, isolation, and over-identification, and with lower selfkindness, common humanity, and mindfulness (Barnett & Sharp, 2016), which may indicate a common pathway of risk for NSSI. Yet, when present, self-compassionate responses can mitigate the deleterious associations between perfectionism and depression and anxiety (Adams et al., 2023; Tobin & Dunkley, 2021; Wong & Mak, 2013).

Given the beneficial impacts of self-compassion on well-being and the identified associations between maladaptive perfectionism and adverse psychological outcomes (Limburg et al., 2017), researchers have begun to examine the potential utility of self-compassion in the context of perfectionism and psychological distress (Kawamoto et al., 2023). In previous meta-analytic research, self-compassion is associated with lower levels of psychopathology including anxiety, depression, and stress (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012) and, in a study of university students, weakened the association between perfectionism and psychological distress (e.g., depression, anxiety, and academic distress; Adams et al., 2023; Kawamoto et al., 2023). Self-compassion appears to benefit perfectionists by mitigating rumination and avoidance tendencies, resulting in reductions of anxiety and depression in clinical and non-clinical samples (i.e., university students; Krieger et al., 2013; Raes, 2010).

### **Present Study**

Our review of the literature indicates robust associations between perfectionism, psychopathology, and NSSI (Chester et al., 2015; Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009; Lucas et al., 2019; Muehlenkamp & Brausch, 2016; Weintraub et al., 2017). Fewer studies, however, have examined potential moderators of these linkages. For example, minimal previous research has examined the role of self-compassion and its domains as factors that may buffer against or exacerbate the deleterious relations between perfectionism and mental well-being. Given this, we will examine the association between perfectionism and NSSI behavior, including the potential mediating role of psychopathology (i.e., symptoms of anxiety and depression). We will also investigate the potential moderating role of self-compassion, and its facets, on each of the mediated linkages, including between perfectionism and NSSI, between perfectionism and psychopathology, and between psychopathology and NSSI.

Our study will focus on the exploration of these research questions in college students due to the frequent manifestation of psychopathology and non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) in this population. Within this population, there have been notable and concerning increases in rates of mental health treatment within the past year, lifetime diagnoses of a mental health condition (Lipson et al., 2019); symptoms of anxiety, depression, and NSSI (Cipriano et al., 2017; Duffy et al., 2019; Kiekens et al., 2019), and perfectionism (Curran & Hill, 2019).

*Hypothesis 1.* At the bivariate level, we hypothesize that perfectionism will be positively associated with depression, anxiety, NSSI, and non-self-compassionate facets (i.e., self-judgement, isolation, over-identification) and negatively associated with self-compassion and its self-compassionate facets (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, mindfulness). Moreover, we hypothesize that depressive symptoms will be positively related to anxiety, NSSI, and non-self-compassionate facets, while inversely related to self-compassion and its self-compassionate facets. Similarly, we hypothesize that anxiety symptoms will be positively correlated with NSSI and non-self-compassionate facets, and negatively correlated with self-compassion and its self-compassionate facets. Lastly, we hypothesize that NSSI will show a positive association with non-self-compassionate facets and an inverse association with self-compassion and its self-compassionate facets.

*Hypothesis 2*. At the multivariate level, we hypothesize that perfectionism will be associated with NSSI, and that depression and anxiety will mediate this association, such that greater levels of perfectionism will be associated with greater levels of psychopathology and, in turn, with greater NSSI.

*Hypothesis 3*. Finally, we hypothesize that self-compassion and its domains will moderate the relations between perfectionism and depression, anxiety, and NSSI on all model

paths (i.e., perfectionism and NSSI; perfectionism and depression/anxiety; depression/anxiety and NSSI), such that these associations would be weakened by the presence of the protective components of self-compassion and strengthened by the risk components of non-selfcompassion.

### **Chapter 2. Methods**

### Procedures

Data for this study was previously collected as part of a larger IRB-approved project conducted by the Laboratory of Resilience in Psychological and Physical Health, in the Department of Psychology at East Tennessee State University. Participants (N = 338) are undergraduate students who met recruitment eligibility criteria, which included being 18 years of age or older and having the ability to complete self-report surveys in English. An online university research system (SONA) was used for recruitment and administration of surveys, allowing random assignment of computer-generated identification numbers to guarantee participant confidentiality. Participants were able to complete the survey in a location of their choosing, ensuring privacy, and all respondents provided electronic informed consent prior to participation. Students were given course credit or extra credit for their participation in this study and were provided with a list of mental health resources upon completion.

### **Participants**

Our sample of 338 undergraduate students was 67% female (n = 225) and 32.4% male (n = 109), with two students identifying as transgender (0.6%). Participants ranged in age from 17 to 58 years old (M = 21.81, SD = 5.33) and were predominantly White (n = 294; 87%), followed by Black (n = 18; 5.3%), Asian (n = 10; 3%), and Hispanic/Latino (n = 6; 1.8%). Most participants were first year undergraduate students (n = 119; 35.3%), followed by second year undergraduates (n = 74; 22%), third year undergraduates (n = 73; 21.7%), and fourth year undergraduates (n = 59; 17.5%). Not all respondents completed each item, resulting in differences in sample sizes across analyses.

### Measures

In addition to completing measures assessing our primary variables of interest, participants completed a comprehensive demographic questionnaire that assessed sample characteristics, including age, gender, and race, which will be utilized for descriptive statistics and covariates.

### NSSI

The Self-Harm Inventory (SHI; Sansone et al., 1998) is a 22-item self-report questionnaire that assesses engagement in NSSI behaviors, including intentional interpersonally destructive behaviors and intentional medically self-harming behaviors. Participants are asked to respond with either yes (1) or no (0), regarding their history of purposeful engagement in a variety of self-destructive behaviors, including "cutting yourself," "abused prescription medication," and "engaged in emotionally abusive relationships." Item scores are summed, and total scores range from 0 to 22, with higher scores indicating greater risk for NSSI. For college students, a score of 5 indicates mild NSSI behavior, whereas a score of 11 or greater indicates severe NSSI behavior (Sansone et al., 1998). Internal consistency of the SHI among college students is good ( $\alpha$  = .83; Latimer et al., 2009), as it was in our current study ( $\alpha$  = .87).

#### Perfectionism

The Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale (MPS; Frost et al., 1990) is a 35-item self-report questionnaire that originally assessed six components of perfectionism, including concern over mistakes (9 items), personal standards (7 items), parental expectations (5 items), parental criticism (4 items), doubts about actions (4 items), and organization (6 items). However, since the original creation of the Frost MPS, subsequent factor analyses have discovered that four dimensions may be more appropriate than six (Stober, 1998). These four sub-scales include

concern over mistakes and doubts about actions (13 items), parental expectations and criticism (9 items), personal standards (7 items), and organization (6 items). Whether calculating six or four subscales of the FMPS, subscales are calculated by summing items that make up each subscale (Frost et al., 1990; Stober, 1998). Examples of perfectionism items include, "I should be upset if I make a mistake," "I have extremely high goals," and "I never felt like I could meet my parents' expectations." Each item is scored on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 5 ("strongly agree"). A total perfectionism score can also be generated by summing all subscale scores, excluding the organization subscale, with higher scores indicating greater perfectionism (Frost et al., 1990). Internal consistency of the MPS among college students is good ( $\alpha = .88$ ), and ranges from acceptable to excellent for subscales (concern over mistakes ( $\alpha = .90$ ); personal standards ( $\alpha = .72$ ); organization ( $\alpha = .95$ ; Parker & Adkins, 1995). In our study, we used the MPS total score, which demonstrated excellent internal consistency ( $\alpha = .90$ ).

### **Depression Symptoms**

The Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II; Beck et al., 1996) is a 21-item self-report questionnaire that assesses symptoms of depression occurring in the past two weeks, including depressed mood, anhedonia, changes in appetite and sleep patterns, irritability, fatigue, worthlessness, guilt, concentration difficulties, indecisiveness, and suicidal ideation. Each item is scored on a four-point Likert scale ranging from 0 to 3. For example, participants are prompted to rate their feelings of irritability on a scale of 0 ("I am no more irritable than usual") to 3 ("I am irritable all the time"). A total score is derived by summing all items, with higher scores indicating greater severity of depressive symptoms. The standardized cutoff ranges for outpatient individuals, age 13 or older, include 0-13 (minimal depression), 14-19 (mild depression), 20-28

(moderate depression), and 29-57 (severe depression). The BDI-II exhibits excellent reliability in college samples ( $\alpha = .93$ ) and good convergent validity with the Hamilton Psychiatric Rating Scale for Depression-Revised in a sample of psychiatric outpatients ( $\alpha = .71$ ; Arbisi, 2001). The BDI-II also demonstrated excellent internal consistency among college students ( $\alpha = .91$ ; Dozois et al., 1998) and was comparably excellent in our study ( $\alpha = .95$ ).

### Anxiety Symptoms

The Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI; Beck et al., 1988) is a 21-item self-report questionnaire that assesses symptoms of anxiety occurring in the past month, including restlessness, nervousness, fear of losing control, a pounding/racing heart, trembling hands, and difficulty breathing. Each item is scored on a four-point Likert scale ranging from 0 ("not at all") to 3 ("severely - it bothered me a lot"). The BAI yields a total summed score, with higher scores indicating more severe anxiety symptoms. The standardized cutoff ranges for outpatient individuals, age 17 or older, include: 0-7 (minimal anxiety), 8-15 (mild anxiety), 16-25 (moderate anxiety), and 26-63 (severe anxiety). The BAI exhibits excellent internal consistency among undergraduate students ( $\alpha = .91$ ; Borden et al., 1991), moderate convergent validity with the revised Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale ( $\alpha = .51$ ), and low convergent validity with the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale ( $\alpha = .25$ ; Beck et al., 1988). In our study, the BAI demonstrated excellent internal consistency ( $\alpha = .94$ ).

#### Self-Compassion

The Self-Compassion Scale (SCS; Neff, 2003b) is a 26-item self-report questionnaire that assesses six components of self-compassion, including self-kindness (5 items), common humanity (4 items), mindfulness (4 items), reduced self-judgement (5 items), isolation (4 items), and overidentification (4 items). Examples of self-compassion items include, "I'm kind to myself

when I'm experiencing suffering," "when I'm down and out, I remind myself that there are lots of other people in the world feeling like I am," and "when something upsets me, I try to keep my emotions in balance." Each item is scored on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 ("almost never") to 5 ("almost always"). Individual subscale scores are generated by averaging all items, with higher scores indicating a greater level of that factor. Reverse coded subscales include selfjudgement, isolation, and overidentification. An overall self-compassion score is computed via an average of subscale mean scores, with higher scores indicating greater self-compassion. Internal consistency of the overall SCS score among college students is excellent ( $\alpha = .92$ ), and adequate for each subscale including self-kindness ( $\alpha = .77$ ), common humanity ( $\alpha = .79$ ), mindfulness ( $\alpha = .75$ ), self-judgement ( $\alpha = .77$ ), isolation ( $\alpha = .79$ ), and over identification ( $\alpha =$ .80), and internal consistency for each subscale ranged from adequate to good including selfkindness ( $\alpha = .85$ ), common humanity ( $\alpha = .78$ ), mindfulness ( $\alpha = .78$ ), self-judgement ( $\alpha = .82$ ), isolation ( $\alpha = .83$ ), and over identification ( $\alpha = .80$ ).

### **Statistical Analyses**

All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 28.0.

### Missing Data

The overall dataset was examined for missing data. The percent of missing data was evaluated to determine if it exceeded a suggested cutoff of 20% or greater (Downey & King, 1998), which would result in increased bias and *SE*, and to determine if any missing data was missing completely at random (MCAR) using Little's MCAR test (Dong & Peng, 2013). Missing data for continuous values were accounted for using Expectation-Maximization (EM), a repeated sampling technique used to calculate the maximum likelihood estimation in the presence of

latent variables (Dempster et al., 1977). For categorical variables for which EM was not appropriate pairwise deletion was used.

### **Bivariate Analyses**

Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficients (r) were used to evaluate the associations between, and independence of, study variables. Any items associated with a coefficient of  $r \ge .80$ , indicating multicollinearity, were excluded from analyses (Field, 2009). *Mediation* 

Mediation analysis examines the mechanism or process that underlies the relation between an independent (X) and dependent variable (Y). The effect of X on Y is called the total effect (c), and this effect may be further explained, or mediated, by a third variable, known as the mediating variable (M). The mediated effect, or indirect effect, can be observed through the a pathway, or the effect of X on M, and the *b* pathway, or the effect of M on Y. The effect of X on Y, accounting for the mediating variable, is called the direct effect (c'). In parallel mediation, two or more variables are simultaneously entered as mediators; these mediators may be correlated but do not influence one another in causality (Hayes, 2013). Given that the number of indirect effects is equal to the number of mediators, indirect effects in a parallel mediation model containing two mediators (M1 and M2) can be observed through the *a*<sub>1</sub> pathway, or the effect of X on M1 and the  $b_1$  pathway, or the effect of M1 on Y, and also through the  $a_2$  pathway, or the effect of X on M2 and the b<sub>2</sub> pathway, or the effect of M2 on Y (see Figure 1). We conducted a parallel mediation analysis to investigate whether depression (M1) and anxiety (M2) are simultaneous mediators of the relation between perfectionism (X) and NSSI (Y). Any possible significant demographic covariates will be explored and if necessary controlled for within models.

### Figure 1

Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI: Conditional Indirect Effects of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms



*Note.* c = total effect (perfectionism related to NSSI),  $a_1b_1/a_2b_2$  = total indirect effect (perfectionism related to NSSI through depressive/anxiety symptoms), c' = indirect effect (perfectionism related to NSSI accounting for depressive and anxiety symptoms). \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

Parallel mediation analysis was conducted using Model 4 of the statistical module PROCESS (Hayes, 2013), within SPSS Version 28.0. Hayes' mediation model does not require the assumption of normal distribution for indirect effects given its utilization of bootstrapping, a technique of repeated sampling with replacement (e.g., 10,000 bootstrapped samples) via a random sampling process that estimates sample distribution (i.e., sample mean) and provides 95% confidence intervals (CI) of the mediation, or indirect effects.

### Moderated Mediation (Conditional Indirect Effects Model)

Moderated parallel mediation analyses, using model 59 of PROCESS, were utilized to assess for potential moderating effects of self-compassion on all paths of the parallel mediation model. That is, we examined moderation effects of self-compassion on the association between perfectionism and depression/anxiety (*a1 & a2* pathways), between depression/anxiety and NSSI (*b1* & *b2* pathways), and between perfectionism and NSSI (*c'* pathway), assessing whether indirect effects were conditional based on varying levels of our moderator variable (W). We conducted seven moderated parallel mediation models, including one model to assess the moderation effect of overall self-compassion on all pathways and six models to assess the moderation effects of all SC factors (i.e., self-kindness, self-judgement, common humanity, isolation, mindfulness, and over-identification), on all pathways.

### **Covariates**

Potential confounds for our analyses, including age, gender, and race, were used as covariates to control for their effects on our variables of interest. For example, age was included as a covariate given its association with NSSI. In previous research, the highest rates of NSSI occurred among individuals between the ages of 10 and 24 (Swannell et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2022). Prevalence of NSSI is slightly higher among women than men (Bresin & Schoenleber, 2015) and lowest among Black individuals compared with multiracial, White, and Hispanic individuals (Eisenberg et al., 2013; Lipson et al., 2022; Monto et al., 2018). Regarding psychopathology, prevalence rates of major depression in college students are slightly higher for women than men, and higher for Asian, Black, and Hispanic students than for White students (Eisenberg et al., 2013). Prevalence rates of generalized anxiety in college students are significantly higher for women than men, but are similar across Black, Hispanic, and White students, with lower likelihood among Asian students (Eisenberg et al., 2013).

### **Chapter 3. Results**

## **Demographics**

Our sample of 338 undergraduate students identified most frequently as women (n = 225; 67%), with two students identifying as transgender (0.6%), and the remainder identifying as men (n = 109; 32.4%). The racial composition of our sample was largely White (n = 294; 87%), followed by Black (n = 18; 5.3%), Asian (n = 10; 3%), Hispanic/Latino (n = 6; 1.8%), and 3% (n = 10) did not report their race. Participants ranged in age from 17 to 58 years old (M = 21.81, SD = 5.33). Most participants were first year undergraduate students (n = 119; 35.3%), followed by second year undergraduates (n = 74; 22%), third year undergraduates (n = 73; 21.7%), and fourth year undergraduates (n = 59; 17.5%), with 3.6% (n = 12) reporting as "other." See Table 1 for descriptive statistics of each variable and scale in the study.

## Table 1

Variable	Total Sample				
	Minimum	Maximum	М	SD	
Perfectionism	37	143	85.97	16.67	
Depressive Symptoms	0	52	10.64	11.43	
Anxiety Symptoms	0	59	13.77	11.83	
Non-Suicidal Self-Injury	0	20	3.27	3.93	
Self-Compassion	1	5	2.98	0.59	
Self-Kindness	1	5	2.88	0.77	
Common Humanity	1	5	3.15	0.81	
Mindfulness	1	5	3.17	0.73	
Self-Judgement	1	5	3.16	0.80	
Isolation	1	5	3.08	0.88	
Over Identification	1	5	3.08	0.87	

Levels of Demographic, Predictor, and Criterion Variables by Total Sample

*Note. Minimum* and *Maximum* = range of participant scores. Perfectionism = Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale (n = 329); Depressive Symptoms = Beck Depression Inventory- 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition (n = 335); Anxiety Symptoms = Beck Anxiety Inventory (n = 338); Non-Suicidal Self-Injury = Self-Harm Inventory (n = 337); Self-Compassion = Self-Compassion Scale (n = 334).

## **Missing Data**

No more than 3% of data was found to be missing for any one variable. Data was found to be MCAR,  $\chi^2$  (1, *N* = 33) = 42.38, *p* = -.13. All missing values on continuous variables were imputed using EM.

### **Bivariate Correlations among Study Variables**

Pearson's product moment correlation analyses were employed to test our first

hypothesis, which was mostly supported (see Table 2). All bivariate correlations were in the

anticipated directions. Perfectionism was significantly positively related to depressive symptoms

(r = .32, p < .001), anxiety symptoms (r = .30, p < .001), NSSI (r = .23, p < .001), self-

judgement (r = .21, p < .001), isolation (r = .27, p < .001), and over-identification (r = .23, p < .001) .001) and negatively related to self-compassion (r = -.24, p < .001) and common humanity (r =-.13, p < .05). Perfectionism was not significantly related to self-kindness (r = -.07, p = .182) or mindfulness (r = -.10, p = .082). Depressive symptoms were significantly positively related to anxiety symptoms (r = .64, p < .001), NSSI (r = .44, p < .001), self-judgment (r = .36, p < .001), isolation (r = .39, p < .001), and over-identification (r = .39, p < .001) and negatively related to self-compassion (r = -.50, p < .001), self-kindness (r = -.34, p < .001), common humanity (r = -.50, p < .001), self-kindness (r = -.34, p < .001), common humanity (r = -.50, p < .001), self-kindness (r = -.50, p < .001), -.33, p < .001), and mindfulness (r = -.35, p < .001). Similarly, anxiety symptoms were significantly positively related to NSSI (r = .39, p < .001), self-judgment (r = .27, p < .001), isolation (r = .32, p < .001), and over-identification (r = .31, p < .001) and negatively related to self-compassion (r = -.37, p < .001), self-kindness (r = -.23, p < .001), common humanity (r =-.19, p < .001), and mindfulness (r = -.28, p < .001). Finally, NSSI was significantly positively related to self-judgement (r = .30, p < .001), isolation (r = .32, p < .001), and over-identification (r = .30, p < .001) and negatively related to self-compassion (r = -.37, p < .001), self-kindness (r = .37, p < .001)= -.30, p < .001), common humanity (r = -.20, p < .001), and mindfulness (r = -.18, p < .01). No correlations approached or exceeded the suggested multicollinearity cutoff of r > .80 (Katz, 2006).

# Table 2

	MPS	BDI	BAI	SHI	SCS	SK	SJ	СН	Ι	Μ
BDI	.32***									
BAI	.30***	.64***								
SHI	.23***	.44***	.39***							
SCS	24***	50***	37***	37***						
Self-Kindness (SK)	07	34***	23***	30***	.77***					
Self-Judgement (SJ)	.21***	.36***	.27***	.30***	77***	43***				
Common Humanity (CH)	13*	33***	19***	20***	.55***	.55***	07			
Isolation (I)	.27***	.39***	.32***	.32***	80***	41***	.77***	14*		
Mindfulness (M)	10	35***	28***	18**	.68***	.69***	25***	.60***	28***	
Over-Identification (OI)	.23***	.39***	.31***	.30***	77***	34***	.77***	10	.78***	26***

Bivariate Correlations of Study Variables

*Note*. MPS = Perfectionism – Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale; BDI = Depressive Symptoms – Beck Depression Inventory-II; BAI = Anxiety Symptoms – Beck Anxiety Inventory; SHI = Non-Suicidal Self-Injury – Self-Harm Inventory; SCS = Self-Compassion – Self-Compassion Scale; SK, CH, M = Self-Compassionate Sub-Domains of Self-Compassion Scale; SJ, I, OI = Non-Self-Compassionate Sub-Domains of Self-Compassion Scale: \*p < .05, \*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

### **Parallel Multivariate Mediation Analyses**

Hayes (2013) PROCESS Model 4 with 10,000 bootstrapped resamples was used to examine the association between perfectionism and NSSI, and the potential parallel mediating effects of depressive and anxiety symptoms (Preacher & Hayes, 2008).

In support of our second hypothesis, perfectionism has a significant total effect on NSSI behavior (c = .05, SE = .01, p < .001), which was no longer significant (c' = .02, SE = .01, p = .11) after the inclusion of depressive and anxiety symptoms, indicating parallel mediation (see Table 3 and Figure 1). Gender emerged as a significant covariate of the *a*<sub>2</sub> pathway. There was a total indirect effect of the combined mediators (ab) that was statistically different from zero (IE = .03, lower 95% CI = .02, upper 95% CI = .05). Depressive symptoms (IE = .02, lower 95% CI = .01, upper 95% CI = .04) and anxiety symptoms (IE = .01, lower 95% CI = .002, upper 95% CI = .02) each had a specific indirect effect on suicidal behavior. Overall, perfectionism was related to greater depressive and anxiety symptoms in parallel and, in turn, to greater NSSI behaviors. Our parallel mediation model explained ~5.5% of the total variance in NSSI ( $R^2 = .055$ , p = .001).

## Table 3

Path	Estimate (SE)	Bias corrected and accelerated 95% Confidence Interval		
NSSI				
c (Total Effect)	.05 (.01)***	[.03, .08]		
c' (Direct Effect)	.02 (.01)	[005, .04]		
$a_1$ (Perfectionism $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	.22 (.04)***	[.15, .29]		
$a_2$ (Perfectionism $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	.21 (.04)***	[.14, .28]		
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.10 (.02)***	[.05, .14]		
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.06 (.02)**	[.02, .10]		
ab (Total Indirect Effect)	.03 (.01)	[.02, .05]		
$a_1b_1$ (Perfectionism $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.02 (.01)	[.01, .04]		
$a_2b_2$ (Perfectionism $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.01 (.01)	[.002, .02]		

Direct and Indirect Associations between Perfectionism, Depressive Symptoms, Anxiety Symptoms, and NSSI, with Covariates

*Note*. NSSI = Perfectionism – Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale; Depressive Symptoms – Beck Depression Inventory-II; Anxiety Symptoms – Beck Anxiety Inventory; Non-Suicidal Self-Injury (NSSI) – Self-Harm Inventory. Unstandardized regression coefficients are reported. Bootstrap sample size = 10,000. \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

## **Conditional Indirect Effect Analyses**

In a moderated mediation model examining overall self-compassion as a potential moderator on all paths of the parallel mediation model, hypotheses were partially supported. Race emerged as a significant covariate of the *a*<sub>2</sub> pathway. Self-compassion significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms (*a*<sub>1</sub> path;  $\beta$  = -.20, *SE* = .05, *t*(320) = -4.00, *p* < .001) and depressive symptoms and NSSI (*b*<sub>1</sub> path;  $\beta$  = -.10, *SE* = .04, *t*(316) = -2.63, *p* < .01). However, self-compassion did not significantly moderate the relation between perfectionism and anxiety symptoms (*a*<sub>2</sub> path;  $\beta$  = -.09, *SE* = .05, *t*(320) = -1.61, *p* = .11), anxiety symptoms and NSSI (*b*<sub>2</sub> path;  $\beta$  = .03, *SE* = .04, *t*(316) = .80, *p* = .42), or perfectionism and NSSI (*c*' path;  $\beta$  = .002, *SE* = .02, *t*(316) = .09, *p* = .93). Self-compassion operates as a protective factor on the "*a*<sub>1</sub>*b*<sub>1</sub>" path of the model, weakening the associations between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, and between depressive symptoms and NSSI, thereby ultimately decreasing risk for depression and, in turn, NSSI among perfectionistic individuals (see Table 4; Figure 2).

## Table 4

Path	β ( <i>SE</i> )	t	95% BCa CI
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Self-Compassion $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	20 (.05)	-4.00***	[29,10]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Self-Compassion $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	09 (.05)	-1.61	[19, .02]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Self-Compassion $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	10 (.04)	-2.63**	[17,02]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Self-Compassion $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.03 (.04)	.80	[05, .12]
<i>c</i> ' (Perfectionism x Self-Compassion $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.002 (.02)	.09	[04, .04]

Conditional Indirect Effects of Overall Self-Compassion on All Paths of the Parallel Mediation Model

*Note*. Perfectionism – Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale; Depressive Symptoms – Beck Depression Inventory-II; Anxiety Symptoms – Beck Anxiety Inventory; Non-Suicidal Self-Injury (NSSI) – Self-Harm Inventory; Self-Compassion – Self-Compassion Scale. Unstandardized regression coefficients are reported. Bootstrap sample size = 10,000. BCa CI = Bias corrected and accelerated confidence interval; CI values not containing 0 are considered significant. \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

## Figure 2

Moderated Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI with Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms as Parallel Mediators and Conditional Indirect Effects of Self-Compassion



*Note*.  $a_1/a_2 =$  conditional effect (self-compassion on the relation between perfectionism and depressive/anxiety symptoms),  $b_1/b_2 =$  conditional effect (self-compassion on the relation between depressive/anxiety symptoms and NSSI), c' = conditional effect (self-compassion on the relation between perfectionism and NSSI). \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

When the self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, mindfulness) of self-compassion were examined as independent moderators on all paths of the parallel mediation model, hypotheses were partially supported. Self-kindness significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms ( $a_1$  path;  $\beta = -.17$ , SE = .04, t(320) = -3.99, p < .001), perfectionism and anxiety symptoms ( $a_2$  path;  $\beta = -.11$ , SE = .04,

t(320) = -2.55, p < .05), and depressive symptoms and NSSI ( $b_1$  path;  $\beta = -.09, SE = .03, t(316) = -3.08, p < .01$ ), yet did not significantly moderate the relation between anxiety symptoms and NSSI or perfectionism and NSSI. Additionally, common humanity significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms ( $a_1$  path;  $\beta = -.13, SE = .04, t(320) = -3.00, p < .01$ ), however did not significantly moderate the relation between perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and expressive symptoms ( $a_1$  path;  $\beta = -.11, SE = .05, t(320) = -2.35, p < .05$ ) and perfectionism and depressive symptoms ( $a_2$  path;  $\beta = -.11, SE = .05, t(320) = -2.35, p < .05$ ) and perfectionism and anxiety symptoms ( $a_2$  path;  $\beta = -.10, SE = .05, t(320) = -2.16, p < .05$ ), but did not significantly moderate the relation between depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and anxiety symptoms ( $a_2$  path;  $\beta = -.10, SE = .05, t(320) = -2.16, p < .05$ ), but did not significantly moderate the relation between depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI (see Table 5; Figure 3). Gender emerged as a significant covariate of the  $a_2$  pathway when examining self-kindness as a moderator, of the  $a_1$  and  $b_1$  pathways when examining common humanity as a moderator, and of the  $b_1$  pathway when examining mindfulness as a moderator.

## Table 5

Conditional Indirect Effects of the Protective Components of Self-Compassion on All Paths of the Parallel Mediation Model

Path	$\beta$ (SE)	t	95% BCa CI
Self-Kindness			
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Self-Kindness $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	17 (.04)	-3.99***	[25,08]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Self-Kindness $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	11 (.04)	-2.55*	[20,03]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Self-Kindness $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	09 (.03)	-3.08**	[15,03]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Self-Kindness $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.03 (.03)	.80	[04, .09]
c' (Perfectionism x Self-Kindness $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	01 (.02)	44	[04, .02]
Common Humanity			
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Common Humanity $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	13 (.04)	-3.00**	[21,04]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Common Humanity $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	07 (.05)	-1.52	[16, .02]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Common Humanity $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	04 (.03)	-1.44	[10, .02]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Common Humanity $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.01 (.03)	.20	[05, .07]
c' (Perfectionism x Common Humanity $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	003 (.02)	22	[03, .03]
Mindfulness			
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Mindfulness $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	11 (.05)	-2.35*	[19,02]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Mindfulness $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	10 (.05)	-2.16*	[19,01]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Mindfulness $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	06 (.03)	-1.86	[13, .004]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Mindfulness $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.04 (.03)	1.14	[03, .10]
$c'$ (Perfectionism x Mindfulness $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	01 (.02)	66	[04, .02]

*Note*. Perfectionism – Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale; Depressive Symptoms – Beck Depression Inventory-II; Anxiety Symptoms – Beck Anxiety Inventory; Non-Suicidal Self-Injury (NSSI) – Self-Harm Inventory; Self-Kindness/Common Humanity/Mindfulness – Self-Compassionate Sub-Domain of Self-Compassion Scale. Unstandardized regression coefficients are reported. Bootstrap sample size = 10,000. BCa CI = Bias corrected and accelerated confidence interval; CI values not containing 0 are considered significant. \*p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

### Figure 3

Moderated Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI with Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms as Parallel Mediators and Conditional Indirect Effects of the Protective Components of Self-Compassion



*Note*.  $a_1/a_2 =$  conditional effect (self-kindness/common humanity/mindfulness on the relation between perfectionism and depressive/anxiety symptoms),  $b_1/b_2 =$  conditional effect (self-kindness/common humanity/mindfulness on the relation between depressive/anxiety symptoms and NSSI), c' = conditional effect (self-kindness/common humanity/mindfulness on the relation between perfectionism and NSSI). \*p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

When the non-self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-judgement, isolation, over-

identification) of self-compassion were examined as independent moderators on all paths of the parallel mediation model, hypotheses were partially supported. Self-judgement significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms (*a1* path;  $\beta = .18$ , *SE* =

.04, t(320) = 4.94, p < .001) and perfectionism and anxiety symptoms ( $a_2$  path;  $\beta = .09$ , SE = .04, t(320) = 2.18, p < .05), yet did not significantly moderate the relation between depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI. Additionally, isolation significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms ( $a_1$  path;  $\beta = .14$ , SE = .04, t(320) = 3.94, p < .001), but did not significantly moderate the relation between perfectionism and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI. Lastly, over-identification significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms ( $a_1$  path;  $\beta = .16$ , SE = .04, t(320) = 4.53, p < .001), however did not significantly moderate the relation between perfectionism and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and anxiety symptoms and NSSI, anxiety moderate the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms ( $a_1$  path;  $\beta = .16$ , SE = .04, t(320) = 4.53, p < .001), however did not significantly moderate the relation between perfectionism and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI (see Table 6; Figure 4). Race emerged as a significant covariate of the  $a_2$  pathway when examining self-judgement, isolation, and over-identification as moderators.

# Table 6

Conditional Indirect Effects of the Risk Components of Self-Compassion on All Paths of the Parallel Mediation Model

Path	$\beta$ (SE)	t	95% BCa CI
Self-Judgement			
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Self-Judgement $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	.18 (.04)	4.94***	[.11, .26]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Self-Judgement $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	.09 (.04)	2.18*	[.01, .17]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Self-Judgement $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.05 (.03)	1.85	[004, .11]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Self-Judgement $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	02 (.03)	73	[08, .04]
$c'$ (Perfectionism x Self-Judgement $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.01 (.01)	.90	[02, .04]
Isolation			
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Isolation $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	.14 (.04)	3.94***	[.07, .21]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Isolation $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	.06 (.04)	1.48	[02, .13]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Isolation $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.04 (.02)	1.59	[01, .09]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Isolation $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	01 (.03)	26	[06, .04]
c' (Perfectionism x Isolation $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.004 (.01)	.31	[02, .03]
Over-Identification			
$a_1$ (Perfectionism x Over-Identification $\rightarrow$ Depressive Symptoms)	.16 (.04)	4.53***	[.09, .23]
$a_2$ (Perfectionism x Over-Identification $\rightarrow$ Anxiety Symptoms)	.06 (.04)	1.46	[02, .13]
$b_1$ (Depressive Symptoms x Over-Identification $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	.05 (.03)	1.91	[001, .10]
$b_2$ (Anxiety Symptoms x Over-Identification $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	01 (.03)	55	[07, .04]
c' (Perfectionism x Over-Identification $\rightarrow$ NSSI)	01 (.01)	83	[04, .02]

*Note*. Perfectionism – Frost Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale; Depressive Symptoms – Beck Depression Inventory-II; Anxiety Symptoms – Beck Anxiety Inventory; Non-Suicidal Self-Injury (NSSI) – Self-Harm Inventory; Self-Judgement/Isolation/Over-Identification – Non-Self-Compassionate Sub-Domain of Self-Compassion Scale. Unstandardized regression coefficients are reported. Bootstrap sample size = 10,000. BCa CI = Bias corrected and accelerated confidence interval; CI values not containing 0 are considered significant. \*p < .05, \*\*\*p < .001.

### Figure 4

Moderated Parallel Mediation Model: Perfectionism and NSSI with Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms as Parallel Mediators and Conditional Indirect Effects of the Risk Components of Self-Compassion



*Note*.  $a_1/a_2 =$  conditional effect (self-judgement/isolation/over-identification on the relation between perfectionism and depressive/anxiety symptoms),  $b_1/b_2 =$  conditional effect (self-judgement/isolation/over-identification on the relation between depressive/anxiety symptoms and NSSI), c' = conditional effect (self-judgement/isolation/over-identification on the relation between perfectionism and NSSI). \*p < .05, \*\*\*p < .001.

### **Chapter 4. Discussion**

Previous research highlights the robust associations between perfectionism, symptoms of depression and anxiety, and NSSI (Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009; Limburg et al., 2017; Muehlenkamp & Brausch, 2016; Smith et al., 2016; Weintraub et al., 2017), however our understanding of the potential underlying factors affecting the association between perfectionism and psychopathological outcomes such as NSSI is limited. In a sample of undergraduate students with average prevalence rates of depressive (30.6%) and anxiety (59.6%) symptoms and above-average rates of lifetime mild to severe NSSI engagement (27.4%), we explored the potential parallel mediating impact of anxiety and depressive symptoms on the relation between perfectionism and NSSI, as well as the moderating role of self-compassion, and each of its facets, on this mediated relation. Overall findings suggested that perfectionism and associated anxiety and depressive symptoms might be an important clinical target for NSSI intervention. Furthermore, results supported the potential benefit of enhancing levels of self-compassion to mitigate the risk of subsequent psychopathology and NSSI among perfectionistic individuals.

#### **Hypothesis 1: Bivariate Associations among Study Variables**

Positive bivariate associations between depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and NSSI were supported, which is consistent with previous findings (Hughes et al., 2019; Kalin, 2020; Muehlenkamp & Brausch, 2016; Richmond et al., 2017). Associations between depression and anxiety have been extensively documented throughout the literature, which is unsurprising given their high comorbidity rates (63-67%; Lamers et al., 2011). Depressive and anxiety symptoms share several cognitive and affective constructs, such as rumination, negative automatic thoughts, avoidance, distress intolerance, and emotion regulation difficulties (Benfer et al., 2017; Berking et al., 2014; Buschmann et al., 2018; Dickson & MacLeod, 2004; Olatunji

et al., 2013), which may help to explain their high comorbidity rates. These cognitive and affective constructs are also independent risk factors for NSSI engagement (Andover & Morris, 2014; Coleman et al., 2022; Haywood et al., 2023; Slabbert et al., 2018), which may further contextualize our understanding of the associations between anxiety, depression, and NSSI.

Depression and anxiety are commonly referred to as "emotional disorders," characterized by frequent, overwhelming negative emotions, with intense aversive reactions to them, and typically accompanied by attempts to avoid or escape these emotional experiences (Brown & Barlow, 2009). As such, individuals with depression and anxiety may engage in avoidance coping to ameliorate related emotional distress, however research indicates a bi-directional relation between avoidant coping and these psychopathologies suggesting that avoidance coping strategies may also exacerbate anxiety and depressive symptoms (Grant et al., 2013). Relatedly, NSSI has been frequently conceptualized as a maladaptive coping strategy often utilized by individuals with an avoidant coping style (Castro & Kirchner, 2018). The relation between avoidance coping strategies (e.g., rumination, procrastination, affect and thought suppression) and NSSI engagement has been well documented throughout the literature (Bentley et al., 2015b; Borrill et al., 2009; Coleman et al., 2022; Haywood et al., 2023; Najmi et al., 2007; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2008; Voon et al., 2014). As such, relations seen between emotional disorders, such as depression and anxiety, and NSSI may be partially explained by their mutual association with avoidant coping (Bentley et al., 2015a).

Our results also show that perfectionism was positively related to anxiety, depression, and NSSI, consistent with past findings among undergraduates and adolescents (Bardone-Cone et al., 2017; Duncan-Plummer et al., 2023; Gu et al., 2022; Kawamura et al., 2001; Limburg et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2016), and in support of the broader literature linking

perfectionism with cognitive and affective constructs (Tonta et al., 2022; Xie et al., 2019). Perfectionists typically hold excessively high standards for their performance and tend to be exceedingly self-critical (Frost et al., 1990). As such, perfectionistic individuals frequently worry about the future, ruminate on past mistakes and failures, and engage in social comparisons, all of which further negative affect and rumination (Flett et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2019). Perfectionists who experience heightened negative affect and rumination have been shown to also engage in avoidance coping strategies and experience difficulties in adaptive emotion regulation (Malivoire et al., 2019; van der Kaap-Deeder et al., 2016; Zeifman et al., 2020). Understanding the connection between perfectionism and these cognitive/affective constructs may enhance our comprehension of its association with depression, anxiety, and NSSI.

Our findings also indicated that depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and NSSI were positively related to non-self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-judgment, isolation, and overidentification) and negatively related to overall self-compassion and self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness), consistent with previous findings (Callow et al., 2021; Hasking et al., 2019; López et al., 2018; Per et al., 2021; Suh & Jeong, 2021; Wong & Mak, 2013); although, few studies have reported correlations with each of the six self-compassion subscales. Self-compassion refers to a comprehensive compassion for oneself during moments of distress, including perceived failure, inadequacy, or personal suffering (Neff, 2003a; Neff, 2023). Self-compassion, acknowledged as a protective factor against adverse psychological and psychosocial outcomes (Marsh et al., 2018), can mitigate ruminative processes and avoidance tendencies (Krieger et al., 2013; Raes, 2010). Ways in which self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness) may address rumination and avoidance are by increasing positive beliefs and feelings about the self, accepting and embracing

aversive thoughts and emotions, and mitigating over-identification with personal suffering, whereas non-self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification) are believed to have the opposite effect (Fresnics & Borders, 2017; Neff & Dahm, 2015; Tobin & Dunkley, 2021). Self-compassion's association with ruminative processes and avoidance tendencies may help us to better understand its relation with depression, anxiety, and NSSI.

Surprisingly, although perfectionism was positively related to non-self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification) and negatively related to overall self-compassion and common humanity as predicted, no significant associations were found with self-kindness or mindfulness. This unexpected finding aligns with a study conducted by Barnett and Sharp (2016), which similarly found no significant associations between perfectionism and self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness). The decision to assess overall perfectionism, without distinguishing between its adaptive and maladaptive forms, may explain the lack of significant associations with self-kindness and mindfulness in our study. Perfectionists' inclination towards self-criticism, which fosters a fear of mistakes and negative responses, contributes to feelings of failure and, therefore, recognizing failures as a natural part of the human experience, through common humanity (Neff, 2003a), may contextualize the observed association between perfectionism and common humanity in our study. However, the frequent association of mulitidimensional factors of perfectionism (i.e., perfectionistic concerns and strivings) with psychological distress may clarify the observed positive correlations between perfectionism and non-self-compassionate domains in our analyses.

Self-compassion's potential to diminish ruminative processes and avoidance tendencies offers a potential pathway to mitigate the adverse effects between these variables (Krieger et al.,

2013; Raes, 2010). However, enhancing our comprehension of the associations among these variables is crucial before we can consider fortifying self-compassion as a protective factor. Therefore, we conducted multivariate analyses to explore relations and possible impacts among these variables.

#### Hypothesis 2: Parallel Multivariate Mediation Model among Study Variables

Our second hypothesis was also supported. Depressive and anxiety symptoms, in parallel, mediated the association between perfectionism and NSSI. Specifically, higher levels of perfectionism were related to greater depressive and anxiety symptoms and, in turn, to more NSSI behaviors. This finding suggests that the deleterious impact of perfectionism on NSSI engagement may be explained, in part, by elevated depressive and anxiety symptoms. Our findings build upon previous research that documents the direct association between perfectionism and NSSI behavior (Claes et al., 2012; Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009; Luyckx et al., 2015; Tonta et al., 2022). We also expand the existing literature that outlines the mediating role of psychological distress in the connection between perfectionism and NSSI (Gu et al., 2022). Specifically, we highlight the distinctive roles of depressive and anxiety symptoms as potential points of linkage between perfectionism and NSSI engagement. Gender surfaced as a noteworthy covariate in the connection between perfectionism and anxiety, which may be explained by the higher prevalence of anxiety observed among college women compared to men (Eisenberg et al., 2013).

As previously discussed, perfectionists frequently ruminate about mistakes made, past events, and social comparisons, experience negative automatic thoughts about their need to be perfect and are exceedingly self-critical of their perceived shortcomings (Flett et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2019). Over time, these experiences further increase negative affect and difficulties

regulating emotions among these individuals, escalating their risk for developing psychopathologies like depression and anxiety (Donahue et al., 2018; Malivoire et al., 2019; Rudolph et al., 2007), and increasing their risk of engaging in maladaptive coping strategies, like NSSI (Gu et al., 2022; Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009; Tonta et al., 2022). Ruminative processes, heightened negative affect, and low distress tolerance are predictive of NSSI engagement (Selby et al., 2013; Slabbert et al., 2018). It is possible that perfectionists, experiencing depressive and/or anxiety symptoms, encounter elevated negative affect and, when coupled with impaired cognitive control due to rumination, they may face challenges in selecting adaptive coping strategies. This difficulty may lead perfectionists to resort to maladaptive coping methods like NSSI to alleviate affective distress (Chester et al., 2015).

According to Selby and Joiner's (2009) Emotional Cascade Model, individuals resort to NSSI as a result of ruminative processes triggering a rise in negative affect, which cyclically reinforce one another; referred to as an emotional cascade. Given that rumination hinders cognitive control, which is required for engagement in adaptive behaviors and effective problemsolving (Alderman et al., 2015), individuals may then turn to maladaptive emotional regulation strategies, like NSSI. This shift aims to redirect attention away from ruminative thoughts and negative emotions to a focus on physical sensations. For perfectionistic individuals who frequently ruminate on negative feedback and perceived shortcomings, their experience of emotional cascades may lead to elevated depressive and anxiety symptoms, further increasing affective distress and rumination, and ultimately leading to the use of NSSI behaviors as a means to mitigate aversive thoughts and emotions. Our findings may provide additional support for this conceptual model, such that depressive and anxiety symptoms represent a potential pathway to help us better understand perfectionistic individuals' use of NSSI.

### Hypothesis 3: Moderated Mediation Models among Study Variables

Our third hypothesis, which examined the potential moderating effects of overall selfcompassion and each of its facets on the perfectionism-NSSI association concurrently mediated by depressive and anxiety symptoms, was partially supported. Overall self-compassion significantly moderated the associations between perfectionism and depressive symptoms and depressive symptoms and NSSI by weakening the strength of these associations. However, contrary to our proposed hypotheses, overall self-compassion failed to significantly moderate the associations between perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, and perfectionism and NSSI. Therefore, overall self-compassion serves as a protective factor among perfectionistic individuals by weakening the relations between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, and between depressive symptoms and NSSI, thereby ultimately decreasing their risk for the development of depression and, in turn, NSSI engagement.

Self-compassion functions as an adaptive coping mechanism by enhancing awareness of shared humanity and fostering connection with others (Neff, 2003a). As an emotion regulation strategy, it catalyzes a shift from negative thoughts and feelings about the self, like inadequacies and past failures, towards more positive self-perceptions (Neff & Dahm, 2015). This approach entails embracing rather than avoiding negative thoughts and emotions (Neff & Dahm, 2015; Tobin & Dunkley, 2021). It diminishes over-identification (a construct similar to rumination) and cognitive fusion by encouraging non-judgmental awareness and acceptance of suffering without becoming absorbed by it (Fresnics & Borders, 2017). Indeed, previous research has revealed a negative association between self-compassion and both rumination and cognitive/behavioral avoidance—two constructs with known associations to depression and NSSI (Angelakis & Gooding, 2021; Carvalho & Hopko, 2011; Coleman et al., 2022; Krieger et al., 2013; Spinhoven

et al., 2016). As such, it may be that engaging in self-compassion allows perfectionists to accept and process negative thoughts and emotions about themselves, rather than avoiding and/or ruminating on them, lowering their risk for depressive symptoms. Since NSSI is often used as a coping strategy to divert attention from distressing thoughts and feelings, embracing selfcompassion could also serve as an alternative coping mechanism for perfectionistic individuals experiencing depression. This shift may not only offer an alternative to NSSI but also enhance cognitive control by reducing rumination, enabling more effective problem-solving and engagement in adaptive behaviors (Alderman et al., 2015).

Beyond exploring overall self-compassion as a protective factor, we also examined the potential moderating effects of its three self-compassionate and three non-self-compassionate domains to better understand the function of the various components of self-compassion in the context of perfectionism, psychopathology, and NSSI. First, self-kindness significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, and depressive symptoms and NSSI, but did not significantly moderate the relation between anxiety symptoms and NSSI or perfectionism and NSSI. Self-kindness appears to operate as a protective factor among individuals with perfectionism by weakening the associations between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, and between depressive symptoms and NSSI. It also weakens the relation between perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, therefore decreasing risk for anxiety among perfectionistic individuals.

Self-kindness involves offering support and understanding to oneself when experiencing mistakes or failures, demonstrating concern for personal distress, and maintaining emotional availability during challenging times (Neff, 2023; Neff & Dahm, 2015). Self-criticism and
emotion suppression are associated with certain anxiety disorders (i.e., social anxiety disorder; Iancu et al., 2015; Spokas et al., 2009), depression (Ehret et al., 2015; Tran & Rimes, 2017), and NSSI (Brausch et al., 2022; Xavier et al., 2016). Our findings may suggest that when perfectionists extend kindness and empathy to themselves amid perceived failure or distress, this may lessen their risk of developing psychopathologies like depression or anxiety. Additionally, our results may suggest that when perfectionistic individuals experience elevated levels of depressive symptoms, self-acceptance and kindness may mitigate the negative impact of aversive emotional experiences, reducing the likelihood of engaging in maladaptive coping behaviors like NSSI.

The self-judgement domain significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms and perfectionism and anxiety symptoms but did not significantly moderate the relation between depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI. Self-judgement seems to serve as a risk factor among perfectionistic individuals by strengthening the relation between perfectionism and depressive/anxiety symptoms, therefore increasing their risk for depression and anxiety. In contrast to self-kindness, self-judgment involves using harsh criticism toward oneself (Neff, 2003a). As mentioned earlier, self-criticism is a recognized risk factor for anxiety (Iancu et al., 2015) and depressive (Ehret et al., 2015) symptoms. Therefore, our findings may indicate that perfectionists, due to their frequent experience of self-criticism, could be at an increased risk of developing anxiety and depressive symptoms.

Common humanity significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms but failed to moderate the relation between perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and

NSSI. Common humanity appears to serve as a protective factor for those with perfectionism by weakening the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, thereby decreasing their risk for depression. Common humanity refers to the perception that one's experiences, including mistakes and failures, are universal aspects of the human condition, fostering an awareness that vulnerability, challenges, suffering, and imperfection are shared by all people, which results in a sense of connection with others (Neff, 2003a; Neff, 2023; Neff & Dahm, 2015). Perfectionistic individuals frequently feel socially rejected and unable to meet social expectations (Stoeber et al., 2017), potentially increasing feelings of isolation and susceptibility to depression (Sherry et al., 2013). Our findings may suggest that when perfectionistic individuals embrace common humanity as a cognitive framework when reflecting on past mistakes and perceived failures, they may gain a better understanding that imperfection and suffering are shared experiences, thereby reducing feelings of isolation and decreasing the risk for depression.

The isolation domain similarly significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms but not the relation between perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI. Isolation appears to operate as risk factor for those with perfectionism by strengthening the association between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, thereby increasing their risk for depression. Isolation, as opposed to common humanity, involves perceiving one's experiences as uniquely challenging, which contrasts with the understanding that others also face difficulties, fostering a sense of disconnection and loneliness (Neff, 2023). Our findings may indicate that when perfectionistic individuals perceive themselves as the sole ones making mistakes or experiencing failure, they may believe they've failed to meet social expectations and feel socially

rejected. This heightened sense of isolation may subsequently contribute to an increased risk of depression.

Mindfulness significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms and perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, but not the relation between depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI. Mindfulness seems to operate as a protective factor among individuals with greater perfectionism because it weakens the associations between perfectionism and depressive/anxiety symptoms and, as a result, decreases their risk for depression and anxiety. As a facet of self-compassion, mindfulness refers to maintaining a nonjudgmental and balanced perspective on negative thoughts and emotions, while acknowledging personal suffering without avoiding or exaggerating discomfort (Neff, 2003a; Neff, 2023). This approach prevents individuals from becoming absorbed or carried away by aversive reactions and allows for the recognition and simultaneous distancing of negative thoughts and emotions (Neff, 2003a; Neff, 2023). Mindfulness has been shown to be inversely associated with anxiety and depression, operating through mechanisms such as worry and rumination (Desrosiers et al., 2013). Interestingly, research suggests a direct contrast between mindfulness and perfectionism, which may be due to perfectionistic individuals' tendency to focus on future goals and become pre-occupied with past events, including engaging in rumination and worry about depressive feelings, past mistakes, and distressing experiences (Flett et al., 2021). However, it has been suggested that training mindfulness could relieve distress experienced by perfectionistic individuals by mitigating worry and rumination (Flett et al., 2021).

The over-identification domain significantly moderated the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms but did not significantly moderate the relation between

perfectionism and anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms and NSSI, anxiety symptoms and NSSI, or perfectionism and NSSI. Therefore, over-identification appears to serve as risk factor among individuals with greater perfectionism by strengthening the relation between perfectionism and depressive symptoms, and as a result increasing their risk for depression. In contrast to mindfulness, over-identification involves the attempt to fight or resist one's experiences of suffering, thereby intensifying focus on pain and hindering the ability to view oneself objectively (Neff, 2023). This form of rumination often leads individuals to perceive isolated events as conclusive, potentially impacting feelings of self-worth negatively (Neff, 2023). Considering the established connection between rumination and depression, and their bidirectional impact (Whisman et al., 2020), our findings may imply that when perfectionists engage in rumination, fixating on mistakes and distressing experiences, and becoming absorbed by their perceived shortcomings, they face an elevated risk of developing depression.

In terms of covariates, race/ethnicity was a significant factor in the perfectionism-anxiety pathway when exploring overall self-compassion and non-self-compassionate domains (self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification) as moderators. Considering past research demonstrating comparable prevalence rates of anxiety across racial/ethnic groups (Eisenberg et al., 2013), it is essential we refrain from making broad generalizations based on our limited sample. Gender significantly influenced the connections between perfectionism and anxiety/depression, and between depression and NSSI, when self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness) were examined as buffers. These findings align with past research showing higher prevalence rates of anxiety, depression, and NSSI among college women than men (Bresin & Schoenleber, 2015; Eisenberg et al., 2013), along

with women reporting lower levels of self-compassion and higher levels of rumination and negative affect compared to men (Barnett & Sharp, 2016).

Overall, our findings support existing literature that emphasizes the persistent challenges university students face regarding psychopathology and NSSI engagement. The prevalence rates of mild to severe depressive (30.6%) and anxiety (59.9%) symptoms in our sample align with those in other collegiate studies (Fernandes et al., 2018; Ibrahim et al., 2013; Shah & Pol, 2020). However, the lifetime prevalence of mild to severe NSSI engagement (27.4%) in our sample surpasses rates reported in other collegiate samples (Kiekens et al., 2023; Whitlock et al., 2011). These patterns underscore the necessity for enhanced screening efforts for psychopathology and the implementation of evidence-based interventions. Our results also lend credence to the applicability of Selby and Joiner's (2009) Emotional Cascade Model in understanding the frequent associations among perfectionism, psychopathology, and NSSI, highlighting the potential roles of rumination and negative affect. Additionally, we offer initial support for the role of self-compassion, and several of its facets, as potential buffers on the link between perfectionism and psychopathology, and between psychopathology and NSSI engagement among perfectionistic individuals.

## **Limitations and Future Research**

Our findings should be interpretated in the context of study limitations. First, our use of a cross-sectional design limits the ability to infer causality, and the potential for bidirectionality is a noteworthy concern. For instance, we are unable to discern whether perfectionism truly preceded symptoms of depression (e.g., Smith et al., 2021) and anxiety (e.g., Damian et al., 2017; Gautreau et al., 2015) and NSSI, or whether anxiety and depression symptoms were predictive of NSSI. However, the organization of our models is based on the existing theoretical

and empirical literature, instilling confidence in their directionality; for example, perfectionism is recognized as a contributor to the development and maintenance of both depressive and anxiety symptoms (Egan et al., 2011; Hewitt et al., 2022; Levine et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2018). Anxiety and depressive symptoms frequently coincide and exhibit a reciprocal association (Kalin, 2020; Lamers et al., 2011), and both contribute to the risk of NSSI engagement (Hughes et al., 2019; Wilcox et al., 2012). Nonetheless, it is essential to conduct prospective, longitudinal studies to examine the long-term downstream effects of perfectionism on NSSI behavior and identify underlying mechanisms of action to help us better understand their relationship.

Our study employed self-report measures to evaluate our variables of interest, which may limit measurement accuracy due to methodological concerns such as poor external validity, participants' constraints on self-knowledge, the influence of their mood states, and the potential for socially desirable responses, acquiescent responses, or extreme responses (Huprich et al., 2011; Paulhus & Vazire, 2007). While we employed "gold standard" measures with sound psychometric properties to evaluate psychopathological symptoms, future research should incorporate objective measures (e.g., medical records, clinical interviews, DSM-5 criteria), in conjunction with self-report measures, to enhance overall validity. Additionally, we utilized overall perfectionism as a variable throughout analyses, rather than distinguishing between adaptive and maladaptive perfectionism. Given that these two facets of perfectionism have demonstrated distinct associations with varying psychological outcomes (Limburg et al., 2017; Madigan, 2019), it will be important to explore their differential impact on our study variables in future work.

Although our sample is justified, considering the rising rates of anxiety, depression, NSSI, and perfectionism among college students (Curran & Hill, 2019; Duffy et al., 2019;

Kiekens et al., 2019), our respondents were largely White female young adults, thereby restricting the generalizability of our findings. Thus, the use of a more heterogeneous sample is needed, as existing research indicates variations in the prevalence of our variables of interest (e.g., anxiety, depression, and NSSI) among individuals from different age, gender, and ethnic/racial groups. For example, adolescents and young adults are more likely to engage in NSSI (Swannell et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2022), women exhibit higher prevalence rates of lifetime anxiety and depression (Alternus et al., 2014), and variations in prevalence rates are evident among different ethnic/racial groups for anxiety, depression, and NSSI (Eisenberg et al., 2013; Lipson et al., 2022; Monto et al., 2018); we covaried these variables in our analyses to address this limitation. Future research involving diverse samples is needed to ascertain whether risk and protective factors for NSSI function similarly across various sociodemographic groups.

## Implications

Our study outcomes may carry important clinical implications for university students, a population where reports of psychological distress and perfectionism are increasingly prevalent (Curran & Hill, 2019; Duffy et al., 2019; Kiekens et al., 2019). Our findings suggest that perfectionism may be a salient risk factor for psychopathology and, further, that this association may contribute to NSSI engagement, indicating multiple intervention points that could be targeted at individual, campus, and community levels. We propose that clinicians (1) engage in routine screening for anxiety, depression, and NSSI engagement, (2) assess the presence of risk/protective factors, and (3) enhance self-compassion among perfectionistic students, to mitigate their risk for the development and exacerbation of psychopathology and NSSI.

Screening for symptoms of depression, anxiety, and NSSI among students can assist clinicians and college campuses in identifying intervention opportunities for those at risk. For

instance, systematic use of screeners like the Patient Health Questionnaire 9-item (PHQ-9; Kroenke & Spitzer, 2002) and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-Item (GAD-7; Spitzer et al., 2006) in student health and counseling centers can help identify students that may benefit from mental health services. Similarly, integrating routine NSSI screening questions that inquire about the presence and frequency of NSSI within the past year (Prinstein et al., 2008) or employing brief screening measures like the Deliberate Self-Harm Inventory 9-item (DSHI-9; Bjärehed & Lundh, 2008) may also help to detect at-risk students on campus. Moreover, clinicians may find clinical value in assessing for the presence of risk factors, such as maladaptive perfectionism or non-self-compassionate beliefs, and protective factors, such as elevated levels of selfcompassion, in students exhibiting symptoms of anxiety, depression, or engaging in NSSI, to provide potential insights for clinical interventions.

Increasing levels of self-compassion in perfectionists may reduce their vulnerability to depression and anxiety symptoms, and possibly NSSI. Our bivariate analyses revealed that self-compassion was beneficially related to perfectionism, depression, anxiety, and NSSI, while our multivariate analyses indicated that self-compassion has positive effects on the perfectionism-psychopathology and depression-NSSI links. Notably, all self-compassionate domains within our study (i.e., self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness) demonstrated a mitigating effect on the perfectionism-depression association, however only the self-kindness and mindfulness facets attenuated the perfectionism-anxiety link. Additionally, self-kindness was the only self-compassion domain to alleviate the depression-NSSI relation. Therefore, interventions targeting all facets of self-compassion may prove beneficial in reducing psychopathology risk among perfectionists, while interventions specifically focusing on enhancing self-kindness (e.g., increasing social support, enhancing mindfulness) may be particularly effective in lowering the

risk of NSSI engagement by helping to foster the development of positive coping skills (Adams et al., 2023; Stallman et al., 2020).

Mindful Self-Compassion (MSC) therapy, Compassion-Focused Therapy (CFT), and Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) offer promising avenues for enhancing selfcompassion, including self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness, with the aim of mitigating the negative impacts of perfectionism and possibly reducing the risk of psychopathology and NSSI among perfectionistic individuals (Neff & Germer, 2013; Woodfin et al., 2021; Yadavaia et al., 2014). Both MSC therapy and CFT focus on bolstering mindfulness, improving emotion regulation, fostering self-compassion, and promoting a compassionate inner dialogue to enhance overall well-being and foster psychological resilience (Gilbert, 2010; Neff & Germer, 2013). Notably, CFT may be particularly suitable for clinical populations due to its focus on addressing processes like rumination, which is commonly associated with depression and NSSI (Ferrari et al., 2019). Although ACT is recognized as a transdiagnostic psychotherapeutic approach for addressing a range of psychopathologies and symptoms, some evidence suggests that using an ACT framework as a brief intervention to cultivate selfcompassion may contribute to decreased levels of depression and anxiety (Yadavaia et al., 2014). To foster self-compassion through ACT, treatment should focus on defusing from self-criticism and self-conceptualizations, enhancing self-perspective-taking and self-as-context, and reinforcing self-kindness as a core value (Yadavaia et al., 2014).

In addressing perfectionism directly, research indicates that applying cognitivebehavioral therapy (CBT) for perfectionism—targeting behaviors like repetitive performance checking, cognitive biases, self-criticism, procrastination, and avoidance—can indirectly lead to a decrease in anxiety and depressive symptoms (Egan et al., 2011; Galloway at al., 2022).

Additionally, evidence-based approaches like CBT, which focuses on identifying and altering maladaptive thoughts, behaviors, and emotional responses, along with Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), centered on changing one's relationship to unwanted thoughts and emotions and promoting psychological flexibility, may help mitigate levels of depression and anxiety and, consequently, reduce their downstream effects, resulting in a decreased likelihood of NSSI engagement among perfectionists (Carpenter et al., 2018; Driessen & Hollon, 2010; Twohig & Levin, 2017). Effective interventions for directly addressing NSSI include CBT and Dialectical Behavioral Therapy (DBT), which emphasizes acceptance, distress tolerance, emotion regulation improvement, problem-solving abilities, and interpersonal skills as key treatment components (Calvo et al., 2022). The multifaceted approaches of CBT, ACT, and DBT highlight their relevance and effectiveness in transdiagnostically addressing perfectionism, psychopathology, and NSSI.

## Conclusion

Despite the established connection between perfectionism and NSSI, there exists a scarcity of studies exploring potential mediators or mechanisms of action through which perfectionism influences engagement in NSSI. Furthermore, previous research has not investigated the potential risk and protective roles of self-compassion, and its domains, in the interplay among perfectionism, psychopathology, and NSSI, within a comprehensive model. In our sample of college students, anxiety and depressive symptoms mediated the relation between perfectionism and NSSI. Overall self-compassion, and its self-compassionate domains, attenuated the perfectionism-psychopathology relation, with overall self-compassion and self-kindness also weakening the psychopathology-NSSI linkage. Conversely, non-self-compassionate domains (i.e., self-judgement/isolation/over-identification) exacerbated the

pathway between perfectionism and psychopathology. Longitudinal studies with diverse samples and objective measures are needed to confirm our findings. Despite limitations, our results support the use of interventions that enhance self-compassion to mitigate the risk of anxiety and depression, and consequent non-suicidal self injury among perfectionistic college students.

## References

Abdollahi, A., Allen, K. A., & Taheri, A. (2020). Moderating the role of self-compassion in the relationship between perfectionism and depression. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 38(4), 459-471.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-020-00346-3

- Abdollahi, A. (2019). The association of rumination and perfectionism to social anxiety. *Psychiatry*, 82(4), 345-353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.2019.1608783</u>
- Abramson, L. Y., Metalsky, G. I., & Alloy, L. B. (1989). Hopelessness depression: A theorybased subtype of depression. *Psychological Review*, *96*(2), 358.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.96.2.358

- Abramson, L. Y., Seligman, M. E., & Teasdale, J. D. (1978). Learned helplessness in humans: Critique and reformulation. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 87(1), 49–74. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.87.1.49
- Adams, V., Howell, J., & Egan, S. J. (2023). Self-compassion as a moderator between clinical perfectionism and psychological distress. *Australian Psychologist*, 58(1), 31–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00050067.2022.2125281</u>
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 30(2), 217–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004</u>
- Alderman, B. L., Olson, R. L., Bates, M. E., Selby, E. A., Buckman, J. F., Brush, C. J., Panza, E.
  A., Kranzler, A., Eddie, D., & Shors, T. J. (2015). Rumination in major depressive disorder is associated with impaired neural activation during conflict monitoring. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9, 269. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00269</u>

- Altemus, M., Sarvaiya, N., & Epperson, C. N. (2014). Sex differences in anxiety and depression clinical perspectives. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 35(3), 320-330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2014.05.004
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596</u>

Ammerman, B. A., Sorgi, K. M., Fahlgren, M. K., Puhalla, A. A., & McCloskey, M. S. (2021).
An experimental examination of interpersonal problem-solving in nonsuicidal self-injury:
A pilot study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *144*, 146-150.
<a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.09.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.09.005</a>

Anderson, N. L., Smith, K. E., Mason, T. B., & Crowther, J. H. (2018). Testing an integrative model of affect regulation and avoidance in non-suicidal self-injury and disordered eating. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 22(2), 295–310.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2017.1340854

Andover, M. S., & Morris, B. W. (2014). Expanding and clarifying the role of emotion regulation in nonsuicidal self-injury. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 59(11), 569–575. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371405901102

Angelakis, I., & Gooding, P. (2021). Experiential avoidance in non-suicidal self-injury and suicide experiences: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *51*(5), 978-992. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12784</u>

- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory*. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Bandura, A., & Walters, R. H. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice Hall, Inc.

Bardone-Cone, A. M., Lin, S. L., & Butler, R. M. (2017). Perfectionism and contingent self

worth in relation to disordered eating and anxiety. *Behavior Therapy*, 48(3), 380–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2016.05.006

- Barnett, M. D., & Sharp, K. J. (2016). Maladaptive perfectionism, body image satisfaction, and disordered eating behaviors among US college women: The mediating role of selfcompassion. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 99, 225–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.05.004
- Bateman, A. & Fonagy, P. (2010). Mentalization based treatment for borderline personality disorder. *World Psychiatry: Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA)*,

9(1), 11–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2010.tb00255.x</u>

- Beck, A. T. (1967). Depression: Clinical, experimental, and theoretical aspects. Hoeber Medical Division, Harper & Row.
- Beck, A. T., & Clark, D. A. (1997). An information processing model of anxiety: Automatic and strategic processes. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 35(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(96)00069-1
- Beck, A.T., Emery, G., & Greenberg, R. (1985). *Anxiety disorders and phobia: A cognitive perspective*. Basic Books.
- Beck, A.T., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R.A. (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 56, 893-897.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. (1996). *Beck Depression Inventory manual (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.)*.
  Psychological Corporation.
- Beckwé, M., Deroost, N., Koster, E. H., De Lissnyder, E., & De Raedt, R. (2014). Worrying and

rumination are both associated with reduced cognitive control. *Psychological Research*, 78, 651-660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-013-0517-5</u>

- Beiter, R., Nash, R., McCrady, D., Rhoades, M., Linscomb, M. Clarahan, M., & Sammut, S. (2015). The prevalence and correlates of depression, anxiety, and stress in a sample of college students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *173*(1), 90-96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.054
- Benfer, N., Bardeen, J. R., & Fergus, T. A. (2017). The interactive effect of attention to emotions and emotional distress intolerance on anxiety and depression. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 31(2), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-8391.31.2.91
- Bentley, K. H., Cassiello-Robbins, C. F., Vittorio, L., Sauer-Zavala, S., & Barlow, D. H.
  (2015a). The association between nonsuicidal self-injury and the emotional disorders: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *37*, 72–88.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.006

Bentley, K. H., Sauer-Zavala, S., & Wilner, J. (2015b). The unique contributions of distinct experiential avoidance domains to severity and functionality of non-suicidal self-injury. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, 6(1), 40-57.
 https://doi.org/10.5127/jep.040613

Berking, M., Wirtz, C. M., Svaldi, J., & Hofmann, S. G. (2014). Emotion regulation predicts symptoms of depression over five years. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 57, 13–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.03.003</u>

Bissonette, G. B., & Roesch, M. R. (2016). Development and function of the midbrain dopamine system: What we know and what we need to. *Genes, Brain, and Behavior*, 15(1), 62–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12257</u>

- Bjärehed, J., & Lundh, L. G. (2008). Deliberate self-harm in 14-year-old adolescents: How frequent is it, and how is it associated with psychopathology, relationship variables, and styles of emotional regulation?. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, *37*(1), 26-37. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506070701778951
- Borden, J. W., Peterson, D. R., & Jackson, E. A. (1991). The Beck Anxiety Inventory in nonclinical samples: Initial psychometric properties. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 13(4), 345–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00960446</u>
- Borrill, J., Fox, P., Flynn, M., & Roger, D. (2009). Students who self-harm: Coping style, rumination and alexithymia. *Counseling Psychology Quarterly*, 22(4), 361–372. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09515070903334607
- Boyne, H., & Hamza, C. A. (2021). Depressive symptoms, perceived stress, self-compassion and nonsuicidal self-injury among emerging adults: An examination of the between and within-person associations over time. *Emerging Adulthood, 10*(5), 1269-1285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21676968211029768</u>
- Brausch, A. M., Clapham, R. B., & Littlefield, A. K. (2022). Identifying specific emotion regulation deficits that associate with nonsuicidal self-injury and suicide ideation in adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 51, 556-569.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01525-w

Brenner, R. E., Heath, P. J., Vogel, D. L., & Credé, M. (2017). Two is more valid than one:
Examining the factor structure of the Self-Compassion Scale (SCS). *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 64(6), 696–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000211.supp</u>

Bresin, K., & Gordon, K. H. (2013). Endogenous opioids and nonsuicidal self-injury: A

mechanism of affect regulation. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *37*(3), 374–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.01.020</u>

- Brigitta, B. (2022). Pathophysiology of depression and mechanisms of treatment. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 4(1), 7-20. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2002.4.1/bbondy
- Brown, T.A., & Barlow, D.H. (2009). A proposal for a dimensional classification system based on the shared features of DSM-IV anxiety and mood disorders: Implications for assessment and treatment. *Psychological Assessment, 21*, 256–271.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0016608

Burke, K., Fox, M., Kautz, D. M., Siegel, E., & Kleiman, L. B. (2021). Real-time monitoring of the associations between self-critical and self-punishment cognitions and nonsuicidal self-injury. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 137.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2020.103775

- Buschmann, T., Horn, R. A., Blankenship, V. R., Garcia, Y. E., & Bohan, K. B. (2018). The relationship between automatic thoughts and irrational beliefs predicting anxiety and depression. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 36(2), 137–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-017-0278-y
- Callow, T. J., Moffitt, R. L., & Neumann, D. L. (2021). External shame and its association with depression and anxiety: The moderating role of self-compassion. *Australian Psychologist*, 56(1), 70–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00050067.2021.1890984</u>
- Calvo, N., García-González, S., Perez-Galbarro, C., Regales-Peco, C., Lugo-Marin, J., Ramos
  Quiroga, J. A., & Ferrer, M. (2022). Psychotherapeutic interventions specifically
  developed for NSSI in adolescence: A systematic review. European
  Neuropsychopharmacology, 58, 86-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2022.02.009</u>

- Carpenter, J. K., Andrews, L. A., Witcraft, S. M., Powers, M. B., Smits, J. A., & Hofmann, S. G. (2018). Cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and related disorders: A meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. *Depression and Anxiety*, *35*(6), 502-514. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22728
- Carvalho, J. P., & Hopko, D. R. (2011). Behavioral theory of depression: reinforcement as a mediating variable between avoidance and depression. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 42(2), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.10.001
- Carvalho, S. A., Pinto-Gouveia, J., Gillanders, D., & Castilho, P. (2019). Pain and depressive symptoms: Exploring cognitive fusion and self-compassion in a moderated mediation model. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *153*(2), 173–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2018.1507990
- Castro, K., & Kirchner, T. (2018). Coping and psychopathological profile in nonsuicidal selfinjurious Chilean adolescents. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 74(1), 147-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22493</u>
- Chapman, A. L., Gratz, K. L., & Brown, M. Z. (2006). Solving the puzzle of deliberate selfharm: The experiential avoidance model. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44(3), 371– 394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.03.005
- Chamberlain J. & Haaga D. (2001a) Unconditional self acceptance and psychological health. *Journal of Rational Emotive and Cognitive Behavior Therapy*, *19*, 163–176. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011189416600
- Chamberlain J. & Haaga D. (2001b) Unconditional self acceptance and responses to negative feedback. *Journal of Rational Emotive and Cognitive Behavior Therapy 19*, 177–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011141500670</u>

Chartrand, H., Sareen, J., Toews, M., & Bolton, J. M. (2012). Suicide attempts versus nonsuicidal self-injury among individuals with anxiety disorders in a nationally representative sample. *Depression and Anxiety*, *29*(3), 172–179.

https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20882

- Chester, D. S., Merwin, L. M., & DeWall, C. N. (2015). Maladaptive perfectionism's link to aggression and self-harm: Emotion regulation as a mechanism. *Aggressive Behavior*, 41(5), 443–454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21578</u>
- Cipriano, A., Cella, S., & Cotrufo, P. (2017). Nonsuicidal self-injury: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1946. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01946</u>
- Claes, L., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Vandereycken, W. (2012). The scars of the inner critic: Perfectionism and nonsuicidal self-injury in eating disorders. *European Eating Disorder Review*, 20(3), 196–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.1158</u>
- Claes, L., Vandereycken, W., & Vertommen, H. (2007). Self-injury in female versus male psychiatric patients: A comparison of characteristics, psychopathology and aggression regulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 42(4), 611-621.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2006.07.021

- Clark, D. A., & Beck, A. T. (2010). Cognitive theory and therapy of anxiety and depression:
  Convergence with neurobiological findings. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 14(9), 418-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.06.007</u>
- Cleare, S., Gumley, A., Cleare, C. J., & O'Connor, R. C. (2018). An investigation of the factor structure of the Self-Compassion Scale. *Mindfulness*, 9, 618-628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0803-1</u>

Cleare, S., Gumley, A., & O'Connor, R. C. (2019). Self-compassion, self-forgiveness, suicidal

ideation, and self-harm: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 26(5), 511–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2372</u>

- Cole, D. A., Jacquez, F. M., & Maschman, T. L. (2001). Social origins of depressive cognitions:
   A longitudinal study of self-perceived competence in children. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 25(4), 377-395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005582419077</u>
- Coleman, S. E., Dunlop, B. J., Hartley, S., & Taylor, P. J. (2022). The relationship between rumination and NSSI: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 61(2), 405-443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjc.12350</u>
- Conigliaro, A., & Ward-Ciesielski, E. (2021). Associations between social contagion, group conformity characteristics, and non-suicidal self-injury. *Journal of American College Health*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2021.1928141</u>
- Coplan, J. D., Aaronson, C. J., Panthangi, V., & Kim, Y. (2015). Treating comorbid anxiety and depression: Psychosocial and pharmacological approaches. *World Journal of Psychiatry*, 5(4), 366–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v5.i4.366</u>
- Craske, M. G., Stein, M. B., Eley, T. C., Milad, M. R., Holmes, A., Rapee, R. M., & Wittchen, H. U. (2017). Anxiety disorders. *Nature Reviews. Disease Primers*, *3*, 17024. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.24
- Craske, M. G., Treanor, M., Conway, C. C., Zbozinek, T., & Vervliet, B. (2014). Maximizing exposure therapy: An inhibitory learning approach. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 58, 10–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.04.006</u>
- Cronkite, R. C., & Moos, R. H. (1995). Life context, coping processes, and depression. In E. E.Beckham & W. R. Leber (Eds.), *Handbook of depression., 2nd ed.* (pp. 569–587).Guilford Press.

- Curran, T., & Hill, A. P. (2019). Perfectionism is increasing over time: A meta-analysis of birth cohort differences from 1989 to 2016. *Psychological Bulletin*, 145(4), 410-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000138</u>
- Curran, T., Hill, A. P., Madigan, D. J., & Stornæs, A. V. (2020). A test of social learning and parent socialization perspectives on the development of perfectionism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.109925</u>
- Damian, L. E., Negru-Subtirica, O., Stoeber, J., & Băban, A. (2017). Perfectionistic concerns predict increases in adolescents' anxiety symptoms: A three-wave longitudinal study. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 30*(5), 551-561.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2016.1271877

- Dawkins, J. C., Hasking, P. A., & Boyes, M. E. (2021). Thoughts and beliefs about nonsuicidal self-injury: An application of social cognitive theory. *Journal of American College Health*, 69(4), 428–434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2019.1679817</u>
- Dawkins, J. C., Hasking, P. A., Boyes, M. E., Greene, D., & Passchier, C. (2019). Applying a cognitive-emotional model to nonsuicidal self-injury. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 35(1), 39–48.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2837">https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2837</a>
- Deacon, B. J., & Abramowitz, J. S. (2004). Cognitive and behavioral treatments for anxiety disorders: A review of meta-analytic findings. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 60(4), 429–441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.10255</u>
- Deci, E. L. and Ryan, R. M. (2015). Self-determination theory. International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, 91, 486-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.26036-4

- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2012). Self-determination theory. In P. A. M. Van Lange, A. W.
  Kruglanski, & E. T. Higgins (Eds.), *Handbook of theories of social psychology* (pp. 416–436). Sage Publications Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446249215.n21</u>
- De Houwer, J. (2020). Revisiting classical conditioning as a model for anxiety disorders: A conceptual analysis and brief review. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2020.103558</u>
- Dempster, A. P., Laird, N. M., & Rubin, D. B. (1977). Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via the EM algorithm. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B* (*Methodological*), 39(1), 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1977.tb01600.x</u>
- De Rosa, L., Miracco, M. C., Galarregui, M. S., & Keegan, E. G. (2021). Perfectionism and rumination in depression. *Current Psychology: A Journal for Diverse Perspectives on Diverse Psychological Issues*, 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01834-0</u>
- Desrosiers, A., Vine, V., Klemanski, D. H., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2013). Mindfulness and emotion regulation in depression and anxiety: common and distinct mechanisms of action. *Depression and Anxiety*, 30(7), 654-661. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22124
- Dickson, J. M., & MacLeod, A. K. (2004). Approach and avoidance goals and plans: Their relationship to anxiety and depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 28(3), 415-432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:COTR.0000031809.20488.ee</u>
- Donahue, J. M., Reilly, E. E., Anderson, L. M., Scharmer, C., & Anderson, D. A. (2018).
   Evaluating associations between perfectionism, emotion regulation, and eating disorder symptoms in a mixed-gender sample. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 206*(11), 900–904. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000895</u>

Dong, Y. & Peng, C. Y. (2013). Principled missing data methods for researchers. Springer Plus,

2(1), 222. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-2-222

- Downey, R. G., & King, C. V. (1998). Missing data in Likert ratings: A comparison of replacement methods. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 125(2), 175-191.
- Dozois, D. J. A., Dobson, K. S., & Ahnberg, J. L. (1998). A psychometric evaluation of the Beck Depression Inventory–II. *Psychological Assessment*, 10(2), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.10.2.83
- Driessen, E., & Hollon, S. D. (2010). Cognitive behavioral therapy for mood disorders: efficacy, moderators and mediators. Psychiatric Clinics, 33(3), 537-555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2010.04.005
- Duffy, M. E., Twenge, J. M., & Joiner, T. E. (2019). Trends in mood and anxiety symptoms and suicide-related outcomes among US undergraduates, 2007–2018: Evidence from two national surveys. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 65(5), 590–598.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.04.033

- Duncan-Plummer, T., Hasking, P., Tonta, K., & Boyes, M. (2023). The relationship between clinical perfectionism and nonsuicidal self-injury: The roles of experiential avoidance, self-esteem, and locus of control. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.23506</u>
- Egan, S. J., Rees, C. S., Delalande, J., Greene, D., Fitzallen, G., Brown, S., Webb, M., & Finlay Jones, A. (2021). A review of self-compassion as an active ingredient in the prevention and treatment of anxiety and depression in young people. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 1-19.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-021-01170-2

Egan, S. J., Wade, T. D., & Shafran, R. (2011). Perfectionism as a transdiagnostic process: A

clinical review. Clinical Psychology Review, 31(2), 203-212.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.04.009

- Ehret, A. M., Joormann, J., & Berking, M. (2015). Examining risk and resilience factors for depression: The role of self-criticism and self-compassion. *Cognition and Emotion*, 29(8), 1496–1504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2014.992394</u>
- Einstein, D. A., Lovibond, P. F., & Gaston, J. E. (2000). Relationship between perfectionism and emotional symptoms in an adolescent sample. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 52(2), 89–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00049530008255373</u>
- Eisenberg, D., Hunt, J., & Speer, N. (2013). Mental health in American colleges and universities:
   Variation across student subgroups and across campuses. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 201(1), 60–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e31827ab077</u>

Ellis, A. (1962). Reason and emotion in psychotherapy. Lyle Stuart.

Ellis, A. (1977). Psychotherapy and the value of a human being. In A. Ellis & R. Grieger (Eds.), *Handbook of rational emotive therapy* (pp. 99–112). Springer.

Ellis, A. (1979). The theory of rational emotive therapy. In A. Ellis & J. Whiteley (Eds.), *Theoretical and empirical foundations of rational emotive therapy* (pp. 9–26). Brooks/Cole.

Ellis, A. (2002). The role of irrational beliefs in perfectionism. In G. L. Flett & P. L. Hewitt (Eds.), *Perfectionism: Theory, research, and treatment* (217–229). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10458-009</u>

Emery, A. A., Heath, N. L., & Mills, D. J. (2016). Basic psychological need satisfaction, emotion

dysregulation, and non-suicidal self-injury engagement in young adults: an application of self-determination theory. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*. *45*(3), 612–623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0405-y

- Emery, A. A., Heath, N. L., & Mills, D. J. (2017). The role of basic need satisfaction in the onset, maintenance, and cessation of non-suicidal self-injury: An application of selfdetermination theory. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 21(3), 413–424. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1211043
- Eysenck, M. W. (2000). A cognitive approach to trait anxiety. *European Journal of Personality, 14*(5), 463–476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-0984(200009/10)14:5<463::AID-</u> PER393>3.0.CO;2-3

Eysenck, M., W. (1997). Anxiety and cognition: A unified theory. Psychology Press.

- Fernandes, M. A., Vieira, F. E. R., Avelino, F. V. S. D., & Santos, J. D. M. (2018). Prevalence of anxious and depressive symptoms in college students of a public institution. *Brazilian Journal of Nursing*, 71, 2169-2175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2017-0752</u>
- Fernandez, E. N., & Mairal, J. B. (2017). Behavioral activation versus cognitive restructuring to reduce automatic negative thoughts in anxiety generating situations. *Psicothema*, 29(2), 172-177.
- Ferrari, M., Hunt, C., Harrysunker, A., Abbott, M. J., Beath, A. P., & Einstein, D. A. (2019). Self-compassion interventions and psychosocial outcomes: A meta-analysis of RCTs. *Mindfulness*, 10(8), 1455–1473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-019-01134-6</u>
- Ferrari, F., & Villa, R. F. (2016). The neurobiology of depression: An integrated overview from biological theories to clinical evidence. *Molecular Neurobiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-016-0032-y</u>

Ferrari, M., Yap, K., Scott, N., Einstein, D. A., & Ciarrochi, J. (2018). Self-compassion moderates the perfectionism and depression link in both adolescence and adulthood. *PLoS ONE*, 13(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192022</u>

Field, A. P. (2009). *Discovering statistics using SPSS* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Sage.

- Fikke, L. T., Melinder, A., & Landro, N. I. (2013). The effects of acute tryptophan depletion on impulsivity and mood in adolescents engaging in non-suicidal self-injury. *Human Psychopharmacology*, 28(1), 61–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.2283</u>
- Flannagan, S., Patterson, T. G., Hume, I. R., & Joseph, S. (2015). A longitudinal investigation of the relationship between unconditional positive self-regard and posttraumatic growth. *Person-Centered & Experiential Psychotherapies*, 14, 191-200. https://doi.org/10.1080/14779757.2015.1047960
- Flett, G., Besser, A., Davis, R., & Hewitt P. (2003) Dimensions of perfectionism, unconditional self-acceptance and depression. *Journal of Rational Emotive and Cognitive Behavior Therapy 21*, 119–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025051431957</u>
- Flett, G. L., Hewitt, P. L., Oliver, J. M., & Macdonald, S. (2002). Perfectionism in children and their parents: A developmental analysis. In G. L. Flett & P. L. Hewitt (Eds.), *Perfectionism: Theory, research, and treatment*. (pp. 89–132). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10458-004</u>
- Flett, G. L., & Hewitt, P. L. (2013). Disguised distress in children and adolescents "flying under the radar" why psychological problems are underestimated and how schools must respond. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 28(1), 12-27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573512468845

Flett, G. L., Nepon, T., & Hewitt, P. L. (2016). Perfectionism, worry, and rumination in health

and mental health: A review and a conceptual framework for a cognitive theory of perfectionism. In F. M. Sirois & D. S. Molnar (Eds.), *Perfectionism, health, and well-being*. (pp. 121–155). Springer International Publishing/Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-18582-8\_6

- Flett, G. L., Nepon, T., Hewitt, P. L., & Rose, A. L. (2021). Why perfectionism is antithetical to mindfulness: A conceptual and empirical analysis and consideration of treatment implications. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 19(5), 1625–1645. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00252-w
- Foa, E. B., Steketee, G., & Rothbaum, B. O. (1989). Behavioral/cognitive conceptualizations of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Behavior Therapy*, 20(2), 155–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(89)80067-X</u>
- Fox, K. R., Franklin, J. C., Ribeiro, J. D., Kleiman, E. M., Bentley, K. H., & Nock, M. K. (2015). Meta-analysis of risk factors for nonsuicidal self-injury. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 42, 156-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.09.002</u>
- Freeman, D. & Freeman, J. (2012). Theories of anxiety. In Freeman, D. & Freeman, J. (Eds.), *Anxiety: A Very Short Introduction* (pp. 14–33). Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/actrade/9780199567157.003.0002</u>
- Fresnics, A., & Borders, A. (2017). Angry rumination mediates the unique associations between self-compassion and anger and aggression. *Mindfulness*, 8(3), 554–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-016-0629-2</u>
- Frost, R.O., Heimberg, R. G., Holt, C. S., & Mattia, J. I. (1993). A comparison of two measures of perfectionism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 14(1), 119-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869%2893%2990181-2</u>

- Frost, R. O., Marten, P., Lahart, C. & Rosenblate, R. (1990). The dimensions of perfectionism. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 14, 449-468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01172967</u>
- Galloway, R., Watson, H., Greene, D., Shafran, R., & Egan, S. J. (2022). The efficacy of randomised controlled trials of cognitive behaviour therapy for perfectionism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, *51*(2), 170-184. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2021.1952302
- Gao, Y., Xiong, Y., Liu, X., & Wang, H. (2021). The effects of childhood maltreatment on non-suicidal self-injury in male adolescents: The moderating roles of the monoamine oxidase a (MAOA) gene and the catechol-0-methyltransferase (COMT) gene. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(5), 2598.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052598">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052598</a>
- Gautreau, C. M., Sherry, S. B., Mushquash, A. R., & Stewart, S. H. (2015). Is self-critical perfectionism an antecedent of or a consequence of social anxiety, or both? A 12-month, three-wave longitudinal study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 82, 125–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.03.00</u>
- Gholamrezaei, M., De Stefano, J., & Heath, N. L. (2017). Nonsuicidal self-injury across cultures and ethnic and racial minorities: A review. *International Journal of Psychology*, 52(4), 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12230
- Gilbert, P. (2005). Compassion: Conceptualizations, research and use in psychotherapy. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203003459</u>

Gilbert, P. (2009). The compassionate mind. Constable.

Gilbert, P. (2010). An introduction to compassion focused therapy in cognitive behavior therapy.

International Journal of Cognitive Therapy, 3(2), 97-112.

https://doi.org/10.1521/ijct.2010.3.2.97

- Gnilka, P. B., & Broda, M. D. (2019). Multidimensional perfectionism, depression, and anxiety: Tests of a social support mediation model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 139, 295–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.11.031</u>
- Goddard, A. W., Ball, S. G., Martinez, J., Robinson, M. J., Yang, C. R., Russell, J. M., & Shekhar, A. (2010). Current perspectives of the roles of the central norepinephrine system in anxiety and depression. *Depression and Anxiety*, 27(4), 339-350.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20642
- Grant, D. M., Wingate, L. R., Rasmussen, K. A., Davidson, C. L., Slish, M. L., Rhoades-Kerswill, S., Mills, A. C., & Judah, M. R. (2013). An examination of the reciprocal relationship between avoidance coping and symptoms of anxiety and depression. Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 32(8), 878–896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2013.32.8.878</u>
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94</u>
- Groschwitz, R. C., & Plener, P. L. (2012). The neurobiology of non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI): A review. *Suicidology Online*, *3*(1), 24-32.
- Gross J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: affective, cognitive, and social consequences. *Psychophysiology*, *39*(3), 281–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0048577201393198</u>

- Gross, J. J. (1998a). The emerging field of emotion regulation: an integrative review. *Review of General Psychology*, 2(3), 271-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271</u>
- Gross, J. J. (1998b). Antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation divergent consequences for experience, expression, and physiology. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(1), 224-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.224</u>
- Gu, H., Hu, C., & Wang, L. (2022). Maladaptive perfectionism and adolescent NSSI: A moderated mediation model of psychological distress and mindfulness. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 78(6), 1137–1150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.23304</u>
- Guffanti, G., Gameroff, M. J., Warner, V., Talati, A., Glatt, C. E., Wickramaratne, P., &
  Weissman, M. M. (2016). Heritability of major depressive and comorbid anxiety
  disorders in multi-generational families at high risk for depression. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 171(8), 1072–1079.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32477
- Gyori, D., & Balazs, J. (2021). Nonsuicidal self-injury and perfectionism: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.691147
- Hankin, B. L., Barrocas, A. L., Young, J. F., Haberstick, B., & Smolen, A. (2015). 5-HTTLPR× interpersonal stress interaction and nonsuicidal self-injury in general community sample of youth. *Psychiatry Research*, 225(3), 609-612.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.11.037

Harrington, J. A., & Blankenship, V. (2002). Ruminative thoughts and their relation to depression and anxiety. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *32*(3), 465-485.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb00225.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb00225.x</a>

Harvey, B., Milyavskaya, M., Hope, N., Powers, T. A., Saffran, M., & Koestner, R. (2015).

Affect variation across days of the week: Influences of perfectionism and academic motivation. Motivation and Emotion, 39(4), 521–530.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-015-9480-3

Hasin, D. S., Sarvet, A. L., Meyers, J. L., Saha, T. D., Ruan, W. J., Stohl, M., & Grant, B. F.
(2018). Epidemiology of adult DSM-5 major depressive disorder and its specifiers in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 75(4), 336.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.4602

Hasking, P., Boyes, M. E., Finlay-Jones, A., McEvoy, P. M., & Rees, C. S. (2019). Common pathways to NSSI and suicide ideation: The roles of rumination and self-compassion. Archives of Suicide Research, 23(2), 247–260.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2018.1468836

- Hasking, P., & Rose, A. (2016). A preliminary application of social cognitive theory to nonsuicidal self-injury. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *45*(8), 1560–1574.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0449-7</u>
- Hasking, P., Whitlock, J., Voon, D., & Rose, A. (2017). A cognitive-emotional model of NSSI:
  Using emotion regulation and cognitive processes to explain why people self-injure. *Cognition and Emotion*, *31*(8), 1543–1556.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2016.1241219

Hatzenbuehler, M. L., McLaughlin, K. A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2008). Emotion regulation and internalizing symptoms in a longitudinal study of sexual minority and heterosexual adolescents. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(12), 1270-1278.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01924.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01924.x</a>

- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-based Approach. The Guilford Press.
- Haywood, S. B., Hasking, P., & Boyes, M. E. (2023). Associations between non-suicidal selfinjury and experiential avoidance: A systematic review and Robust Bayesian Metaanalysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 325, 470–479.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2023.01.027

- Healthy Minds Network. (2023). *The healthy minds study: 2021-2022 data report*. <u>https://healthymindsnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/HMS\_national\_print-6-1.pdf</u>
- Heaney, J. (2020). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. In Gellman, M. (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (pp. 1127-1128). Springer.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39903-0\_301949

- Heath, N., Toste, J., Nedecheva, T., & Charlebois, A. (2008). An examination of nonsuicidal self-injury among college students. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*. 30(2), 137–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.17744/mehc.30.2.8p879p3443514678</u>
- Hepp, J., Carpenter, R. W., Störkel, L. M., Schmitz, S. E., Schmahl, C., & Niedtfeld, I. (2020). A systematic review of daily life studies on non-suicidal self-injury based on the fourfunction model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 82.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101888

Hewitt, P. L., & Flett, G. L. (1991). Perfectionism in the self and social contexts:
Conceptualization, assessment, and association with psychopathology. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60(3), 456–470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> <u>3514.60.3.456</u>

- Hewitt, P. L., Flett, G. L., & Mikail, S. F. (2017). *Perfectionism: A relational approach to conceptualization, assessment, and treatment*. The Guilford Press.
- Hewitt, P. L., Smith, M. M., Ge, S. Y., Mössler, M., & Flett, G. L. (2022). Perfectionism and its role in depressive disorders. Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science, 54(2), 121. https://doi.org/10.1037/cbs0000306
- Hill, R. W., McIntire, K., & Bacharach, V. R. (1997). Perfectionism and the big five factors. *Journal of Social Behavior & Personality*, 12(1), 257–270.
- Himmerich, S. J., & Orcutt, H. K. (2021). Examining a brief self-compassion intervention for emotion regulation in individuals with exposure to trauma. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 13*(8), 907–910.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0001110">https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0001110</a>
- Hoff, E. R., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2009). Nonsuicidal self-injury in college students: The role of perfectionism and rumination. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 39(6), 576–587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.2009.39.6.576</u>
- Hooley, J. M., Ho, D. T., Slater, J., & Lockshin, A. (2010). Pain perception and nonsuicidal selfinjury: A laboratory investigation. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 1*(3), 170–179. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020106
- Howe, M. L. S., Murrell, A. R., & Guarnaccia, C. A. (2012). Repetitive nonsuicidal self-injury as experiential avoidance among a community sample of adolescents. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 68(7), 809–829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21868</u>
- Hughes, M., Brown, S. L., Campbell, S., Dandy, S., & Cherry, M. G. (2021). Self-compassion and anxiety and depression in chronic physical illness populations: A systematic review. *Mindfulness 12*(7), 1597–1610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-021-01602-y</u>

- Hughes, C. D., King, A. M., Kranzler, A., Fehling, K., Miller, A., Lindqvist, J., & Selby, E. A. (2019). Anxious and overwhelming affects and repetitive negative thinking as ecological predictors of self-injurious thoughts and behaviors. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 43(1), 88-101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-019-09996-9
- Huprich, S. K., Bornstein, R. F., & Schmitt, T. A. (2011). Self-report methodology is insufficient for improving the assessment and classification of Axis II personality disorders. *Journal Of Personality Disorders*, 25(5), 557-570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2011.25.5.557</u>
- Iancu, I., Bodner, E., & Ben-Zion, I. Z. (2015). Self esteem, dependency, self-efficacy and self criticism in social anxiety disorder. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 58, 165-171.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.11.018

- IBM Corp. Released 2021. IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 28.0. IBM Corp.
- Ibrahim, A. K., Kelly, S. J., Adams, C. E., & Glazebrook, C. (2013). A systematic review of studies of depression prevalence in university students. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47(3), 391-400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.11.015</u>
- In-Albon, T., Bürli, M., Ruf, C., & Schmid, M. (2013). Non-suicidal self-injury and emotion regulation: A review on facial emotion recognition and facial mimicry. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 7(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-7-5
- Ioannou, M. C., Mogg, K., & Bradley, B. P. (2004). Vigilance for threat: Effects of anxiety and defensiveness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 36(8), 1879–1891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2003.08.018</u>
- Irons, C., Gilbert, P., Baldwin, M. W., Baccus, J. R., & Palmer, M. (2006). Parental recall, attachment relating and self-attacking/self-reassurance: Their relationship with

depression. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 45(3), 297–308.

- https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505X68230
- Jacobson, C. M., & Batejan, K. (2014). Comprehensive theoretical models of nonsuicidal selfinjury. In M. K. Nock (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of suicide and self-injury*. (pp. 308– 320). Oxford University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195388565.013.0017

- Jacobson, N. S., Dobson, K. S., Truax, P. A., Addis, M. E., Koerner, K., Gollan, J. K., Gortner, E., & Prince, S. E. (1996). A component analysis of cognitive-behavioral treatment for depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *64*(2), 295-304. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.64.2.295
- Jesulola, E., Micalos, P., & Baguley, I. J. (2018). Understanding the pathophysiology of depression: From monoamines to the neurogenesis hypothesis model—Are we there yet? *Behavioural Brain Research*, 341, 79–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.12.025</u>
- Jordan, J. V. (1984). Empathy and self boundaries. *Stone Center for Developmental Services and Studies*.
- Jordan, J. V. (1991). Empathy, mutuality and therapeutic change: Clinical implications of a relational model. In Jordan, J. V., Kaplan, A. G., Miller, J. B., Stiver, I. P., & Surrey, J. L. (Eds.), Women's growth in connection: Writings from the Stone Center, 283–290. The Guilford Press.
- Kaczkurkin, A. N. & Foa, E. B. (2015). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety disorders: An update on the empirical evidence. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 17(3), 337–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2015.17.3/akaczkurkin</u>

- Kaess, M., Hille, M., Parzer, P., Maser-Gluth, C., Resch, F., & Brunner, R. (2012). Alterations in the neuroendocrinological stress response to acute psychosocial stress in adolescents engaging in nonsuicidal self-injury. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 37(1), 157–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.05.009
- Kaess, M., Hooley, J. M., Klimes-Dougan, B., Koenig, J., Plener, P. L., Reichl, C., Robinson, K., Schmahl, C., Sicorello, M., Westlund Schreiner, M., & Cullen, K. R. (2021). Advancing a temporal framework for understanding the biology of nonsuicidal self- injury: An expert review. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *130*, 228–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.08.022
- Kalin, N. H. (2020). The critical relationship between anxiety and depression. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *177*(5), 365-367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20030305</u>
- Kamen, D. G. (2009). How can we stop our children from hurting themselves? Stages of change, motivational interviewing, and exposure therapy applications for non-suicidal self-injury in children and adolescents. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 5(1), 106–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0100874</u>
- Kang, L., Li, R., Liu, H., Ma, S., Sun, S., Zhang, N., Yao, L., Wang, Y., Zong, X., Ai, C., Zou, Z., Yang, B. X., Bai, H., & Liu, Z. (2021). Nonsuicidal self-injury in undergraduate students with major depressive disorder: The role of psychosocial factors. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 290, 102–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.04.083</u>
- Kaniuka, A. R., Kelliher-Rabon, J., Chang, E. C., Sirois, F. M., & Hirsch, J. K. (2020).Symptoms of anxiety and depression and suicidal behavior in college students:Conditional indirect effects of non-suicidal self-injury and self-compassion. *Journal of*
College Student Psychotherapy, 34(4), 316–338.

https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2019.1601048

- Katz, M. H. (2006). Multivariable analysis: A practical guide for clinicians. Cambridge University Press.
- Kaur, S., & Singh, R. (2017). Role of different neurotransmitters in anxiety: A systemic review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 8(2), 411-421. <u>https://doi.org/10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.8(2).411-21</u>
- Kawamoto, A., Sheth, R., Yang, M., Demps, L., & Sevig, T. (2023). The role of self-compassion among adaptive and maladaptive perfectionists in university students. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 51(1), 113–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00110000221129606</u>
- Kawamura, K. Y., Hunt, S. L., Frost, R. O., & DiBartolo, P. M. (2001). Perfectionism, anxiety, and depression: Are the relationships independent? *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 25(3), 291–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010736529013</u>
- Kendler, K. S., Aggen, S. H., Knudsen, G. P., Røysamb, E., Neale, M. C., & Reichborn-Kjennerud, T. (2011). The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for syndromal and subsyndromal common DSM-IV axis I and all axis II disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 168(1), 29-39. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10030340
- Kiekens, G., Hasking, P., Bruffaerts, R., Alonso, J., Auerbach, R. P., Bantjes, J., Benjet, C.,
  Boyes, M., Chiu, W. T., Claes, L., Cuijpers, P., Ebert, D. D., Mak, A., Mortier, P.,
  O'Neill, S., Sampson, N. A., Stein, D. J., Vilagut, G., Nock, M. K., & Kessler, R. C.
  (2023). Non-suicidal self-injury among first-year college students and its association with
  mental disorders: Results from the World Mental Health International College Student

(WMH-ICS) initiative. Psychological Medicine, 53(3), 875-886.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291721002245

- Kiekens, G., Hasking, P., Claes, L., Boyes, M., Mortier, P., Auerbach, R. P., Cuijpers, P., Demyttenaere, K., Green, J. G., Kessler, R. C., Myin-Germeys, I., Nock, M. K., & Bruffaerts, R. (2019). Predicting the incidence of non-suicidal self-injury in college students. *European Psychiatry*, *59*, 44–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.04.002</u>
- Kim, J., & Gorman, J. (2005). The psychobiology of anxiety. *Clinical Neuroscience Research*, 4(5-6), 335-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnr.2005.03.008</u>
- Kirtley, O. J., O'Carroll, R. E., & O'Connor, R. C. (2016). Pain and self-harm: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 203, 347-363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.068</u>
- Klibert, J., Lamis, D. A., Naufel, K., Yancey, C. T., & Lohr, S. (2015). Associations between perfectionism and generalized anxiety: Examining cognitive schemas and gender. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 33(2), 160-178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-015-0208-9
- Klonsky, E. D. (2011). Non-suicidal self-injury in United States adults: Prevalence, sociodemographics, topography and functions. *Psychological Medicine*, 41(9), 1981-1986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291710002497</u>
- Klonsky, E. D., Glenn, C. R., Styer, D. M., Olino, T. M., & Washburn, J. J. (2015). The functions of nonsuicidal self-injury: Converging evidence for a two-factor structure. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 9.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-015-0073-4">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-015-0073-4</a>

- Klonsky, E. D., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2007). Self-injury: A research review for the practitioner. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *63*(11), 1045–1056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20412</u>
- Klonsky, E. D., Victor, S. E., & Saffer, B. Y. (2014). Nonsuicidal self-injury: What we know, and what we need to know. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *59*(11), 565–568. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371405901101
- Kokaliari, E. D., Roy, A. W., & Koutra, K. (2017). A cross-sectional study comparing predictors of non-suicidal self-injury among college students in the United States and Greece. *International Journal of Culture and Mental Health*, *10*(1), 50–61.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/17542863.2016.1259339
- Kotera, Y., Young, H., Maybury, S., & Aledeh, M. (2022). Mediation of self-compassion on pathways from stress to psychopathologies among Japanese workers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(19), 12423.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191912423">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191912423</a>
- Kranzler, A., Fehling, K. B., Anestis, M. D., & Selby, E. A. (2016). Emotional dysregulation, internalizing symptoms, and self-injurious and suicidal behavior: Structural equation modeling analysis. *Death Studies*, 40(6), 358–366.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2016.1145156

- Kraus, L., Schmid, M., & In-Albon, T. (2020). Anti-suicide function of nonsuicidal self-injury in female inpatient adolescents. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11, 490. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00490</u>
- Krieger, T., Altenstein, D., Baettig, I., Doerig, N., & Holtforth, M. G. (2013). Self-compassion in depression: Associations with depressive symptoms, rumination, and avoidance in depressed outpatients. *Behavior Therapy*, 44, 501–513.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.04.004

Kroenke, K., & Spitzer, R. L. (2002). The PHQ-9: A new depression diagnostic and severity measure. *Psychiatric Annals*, 32, 509-521.

https://doi.org/10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06

- Krypotos, A. M., Effting, M., Kindt, M., & Beckers, T. (2015). Avoidance learning: a review of theoretical models and recent developments. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9, 189. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00189</u>
- Laghi, F., Terrinoni, A., Cerutti, R., Fantini, F., Galosi, S., Ferrara, M., & Bosco, F. M. (2016).
   Theory of mind in non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) adolescents. *Consciousness and Cognition: An International Journal, 43*, 38–47.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2016.05.004
- Lamers, F., van Oppen, P., Comijs, H. C., Smit, J. H., Spinhoven, P., van Balkom, A. J. L. M., Nolen, W. A., Zitman, F. G., Beekman, A. T. F., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2011).
  Comorbidity patterns of anxiety and depressive disorders in a large cohort study: The Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA). *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 72(3), 341–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.10m06176blu</u>
- Latimer, S., Covic, T., Cumming, S. R., & Tennant, A. (2009). Psychometric analysis of the Self-Harm Inventory using Rasch modelling. *BMC Psychiatry*, 9(53). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-9-53
- Lauw, M., How, C. H., & Loh, C. (2015). Deliberate self-harm in adolescents. *Singapore Medical Journal*, *56*(6), 306–309. <u>https://doi.org/10.11622/smedj.2015087</u>

Laye-Gindhu, A. & Schonert-Reichl, K. A. (2005). Nonsuicidal self-harm among community

adolescents: Understanding the whats and whys of self-harm. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *34*, 447–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-005-7262-z

- LeMoult, J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2019). Depression: A cognitive perspective. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 69, 51-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.008
- Leventhal, A. M. (2008). Sadness, depression, and avoidance behavior. *Behavior Modification,* 32(6), 759-779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445508317167</u>
- Levine, S. L., Tabri, N., & Milyavskaya, M. (2023). Trajectories of depression and anxiety symptoms over time in the transition to university: Their co-occurrence and the role of self-critical perfectionism. *Development and Psychopathology*, *35*(1), 345-356.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579421000626

- Lewinsohn, P. M. (1974). A behavioral approach to depression. In R. J. Friedman & M. M. Katz (Eds.), *The psychology of depression: Contemporary theory and research*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Lewinsohn, P. M., & Gotlib, I. H. (1995). Behavioral theory and treatment of depression. In E.E. Beckham & W. R. Leber (Eds.), *Handbook of depression., 2nd ed.* (pp. 352–375).Guilford Press.
- Limburg, K., Watson, H. J., Hagger, M. S., & Egan, S. J. (2017). The relationship between perfectionism and psychopathology: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(10), 1301-1326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22435</u>
- Linehan, M. M. (1993). *Cognitive-behavioral treatment of borderline personality disorder*. Guilford Press.
- Lipson, S. K., Zhou, S., Abelson, S., Heinze, J., Jirsa, M., Morigney, J., Patterson, A., Singh, M.,

& Eisenberg, D. (2022). Trends in college student mental health and help-seeking by race/ethnicity: Findings from the national healthy minds study, 2013–2021. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 306*, 138–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.03.038</u>

Lissek, S., Kaczkurkin, A. N., Rabin, S., Geraci, M., Pine, D. S., & Grillon, C. (2014). Generalized anxiety disorder is associated with overgeneralization of classically conditioned fear. *Biological Psychiatry*, 75(11), 909–915.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.025

- Liu, R. T., Cheek, S. M., and Nestor, B. A. (2016). Non-suicidal self-injury and life stress: A systematic meta-analysis and theoretical elaboration. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 47, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.05.005</u>
- Liu, R. T., Kleiman, E. M., Nestor, B. A., & Cheek, S. M. (2015). The hopelessness theory of depression: A quarter century in review. *Clinical Psychology: A Publication of the Division of Clinical Psychology of the American Psychological Association*, 22(4), 345–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cpsp.12125</u>
- Liu, Q., Zhao, X., & Liu, W. (2022). Are perfectionists always dissatisfied with life? An empirical study from the perspective of self-determination theory and perceived control. *Behavioral Sciences*, 12(11), 440. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/bs12110440</u>
- Lloyd-Richardson, E. E., Perrine, N., Dierker, L., & Kelley, M. L. (2007). Characteristics and functions of non-suicidal self-injury in a community sample of adolescents. *Psychological Medicine*, 37(8), 1183-1192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329170700027X</u>
- López, A., Sanderman, R. & Schroevers, M.J. (2018). A close examination of the relationship between self-compassion and depressive symptoms. *Mindfulness*, 9, 1470–1478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0891-6</u>

- Lopizzo, N., Bocchio Chiavetto, L., Cattane, N., Plazzotta, G., Tarazi, F. I., Pariante, C. M.,
   Riva, M. A., & Cattaneo, A. (2015). Gene–environment interaction in major depression:
   focus on experience-dependent biological systems. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *6*, 68.
- Lucas, A. G., Chang, E. C., Li, M., Chang, O. D., & Hirsch, J. K. (2019). Perfectionism and social problem solving as predictors of nonsuicidal self-injury in ethnoracially diverse college students: Findings controlling for concomitant suicide risk. *Social Work*, 64, 165– 174. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swz005
- Luyckx, K., Gandhi, A., Bijttebier, P., & Claes, L. (2015). Non-suicidal self-injury in female adolescents and psychiatric patients: A replication and extension of the role of identity formation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 77, 91–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.12.057</u>
- MacBeth, A. & Gumley, A. (2012). Exploring compassion: A meta-analysis of the association between self-compassion and psychopathology. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32, 545– 552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.06.003</u>
- Madigan, D. J. (2019). A meta-analysis of perfectionism and academic achievement.
   *Educational Psychology Review*, 31(4), 967–989.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09484-2">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09484-2</a>
- Maier, S. F., & Seligman, M. E. (1976). Learned helplessness: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 105(1), 3–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.105.1.3</u>
- Maier, S. F., & Seligman, M. E. (2016). Learned helplessness at fifty: Insights from neuroscience. *Psychological Review*, 123(4), 349–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000033</u>

- Malivoire, B. L., Kuo, J. R., & Antony, M. M. (2019). An examination of emotion dysregulation in maladaptive perfectionism. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 71, 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.04.006
- Marsh, I. C., Chan, S. W., & MacBeth, A. (2018). Self-compassion and psychological distress in adolescents—A meta-analysis. *Mindfulness 9*(4), 1011–1027. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0850-7
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1987). Validation of a five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 81-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.1.81</u>
- Mckenzie, K. C., & Gross, J. J. (2014). Nonsuicidal self-injury: An emotion regulation perspective. *Psychopathology*, 47(4), 207-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000358097</u>
- Mehr, K.E. & Adams, A.C. (2016). Self-compassion as a mediator of maladaptive perfectionism and depressive symptoms in college students. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 30, 132–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2016.1140991</u>
- Meier, S. M., & Deckert, J. (2019). Genetics of anxiety disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-1002-7
- Menninger, K. (1938). Man against himself. Harcourt, Brace.
- Mistler, B. J., Reetz, D. R., Krylowicz, B., & Barr, V. (2012). The Association for University of College Counseling Center Directors Annual Survey. Retrieved from <u>http://www.aucccd.org/support/aucccd\_directors\_survey\_monograph\_2012\_public.pdf</u>
- Monto, M. A., McRee, N., & Deryck, F. S. (2018). Nonsuicidal self-injury among a representative sample of US adolescents, 2015. American Journal of Public Health, 108(8), 1042-1048. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304470</u>

- Moore, E., Holding, A. C., Hope, N. H., Harvey, B., Powers, T. A., Zuroff, D., & Koestner, R. (2018). Perfectionism and the pursuit of personal goals: A self-determination theory analysis. *Motivation and Emotion*, 42(1), 37–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-017-9654-2</u>
- Moroz, M., & Dunkley, D. M. (2015). Self-critical perfectionism and depressive symptoms: Low self-esteem and experiential avoidance as mediators. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 87, 174–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.07.044</u>
- Mowrer, O. H. (1951). Two-factor learning theory: Summary and comment. *Psychological Review*, 58(5), 350–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0058956</u>
- Muehlenkamp, J. J., & Brausch, A. M. (2016). Reconsidering Criterion A for the diagnosis of non-suicidal self-injury disorder. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 38(4), 547–558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-016-9543-0</u>
- Muehlenkamp, J., Brausch, A., Quigley, K., & Whitlock, J. (2013). Interpersonal features and functions of nonsuicidal self-injury. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 43(1), 67-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.2012.00128.x</u>
- Muehlenkamp, J. J., Claes, L., Havertape, L., & Plener, P. L. (2012). International prevalence of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 6(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-6-10</u>
- Muehlenkamp, J. J., & Gutierrez, P. M. (2007). Risk for suicide attempts among adolescents who engage in non-suicidal self-injury. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 11(1), 69–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811110600992902</u>

Muehlenkamp, J. J., Hoff, E. R., Licht, J.-G., Azure, J. A., & Hasenzahl, S. J. (2008). Rates of

non-suicidal self-injury: A cross-sectional analysis of exposure. *Current Psychology: A Journal for Diverse Perspectives on Diverse Psychological Issues*, 27(4), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-008-9036-8

Muehlenkamp, J. J., Kerr, P. L., Bradley, A. R., & Larsen, M. A. (2010). Abuse subtypes and nonsuicidal self-injury: Preliminary evidence of complex emotion regulation patterns. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 198*(4), 258–263.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181d612ab

- Muris, P., & Petrocchi, N. (2017). Protection or vulnerability? A meta-analysis of the relations between the positive and negative components of self-compassion and psychopathology.
   *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 24(2), 373–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2005</u>
- Murn, L. T., & Steele, M. R. (2020). What matters most? Age and gender differences in self compassion and body attitudes among college students. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 33(4), 541–560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09515070.2019.1605334</u>
- Murphy D., Demetriou E., & Joseph S. (2015). A cross-sectional study to explore the mediating effect of intrinsic aspiration on the association between unconditional positive self-regard and posttraumatic growth. *Person Centered and Experiential Psychotherapies, 14*(3), 201-213. https://doi.org/10.1080/14779757.2015.1051238
- Najmi, S., Wegner, D.M., & Nock, M.K. (2007). Thought suppression and self-injurious thoughts and behaviors. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(8), 1957–1965.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2006.09.014">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2006.09.014</a>
- Neff, K. D. (2003a). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualization of a healthy attitude toward oneself. *Self and Identity*, 2(2), 85–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860309032</u>
- Neff, K. D. (2023). Self-compassion: Theory, method, research, and intervention. Annual

Review of Psychology, 74, 193–218.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-032420-031047

- Neff, K. D. (2003b). The development and validation of a scale to measure self-compassion. *Self* and Identity, 2(3), 223–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860309027
- Neff, K. D. (2022). The differential effects fallacy in the study of self-compassion: Misunderstanding the nature of bipolar continuums. *Mindfulness 13*, 572–576.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-022-01832-8</u>
- Neff, K. D. (2016). The Self-Compassion Scale is a valid and theoretically coherent measure of self-compassion. *Mindfulness* 7(1), 264–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0479-3</u>
- Neff, K. D., & Dahm, K. (2015). Self-compassion: What it is, what it does, and how it relates to mindfulness. In B. D. Ostafin, M. D. Robinson, & B. P. Meier (Eds.), *Handbook of mindfulness and self-regulation* (pp. 121–137). Springer Science + Business Media. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2263-5\_10</u>
- Neff, K. D., & Germer, C. K. (2013). A pilot study and randomized controlled trial of the mindful self-compassion program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(1), 28-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21923</u>
- Neff, K. D., & McGehee, P. (2010). Self-compassion and psychological resilience among adolescents and young adults. *Self and Identity*, 9, 225–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860902979307</u>
- Neff, K. D., Rude, S. S., & Kirkpatrick, K. L. (2007). An examination of self-compassion in relation to positive psychological functioning and personality variables. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 41(4), 908–916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2006.08.002</u>

Neff, K. D., Tóth-Király, I., Yarnell, L. M., Arimitsu, K., Castilho, P., Ghorbani, N., Guo, H. X.,

Hirsch, J. K., Hupfeld, J., Hutz, C. S., Kotsou, I., Lee, W. K., Montero-Marin, J., Sirois,
F. M., de Souza, L. K., Svendsen, J. L., Wilkinson, R. B., & Mantzios, M. (2019).
Examining the factor structure of the Self-Compassion Scale in 20 diverse samples:
Support for use of a total score and six subscale scores. *Psychological Assessment, 31*(1),
27–45. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000629.supp

- Nock M. K. (2010). Self-injury. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 6, 339–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131258</u>
- Nock, M. K., Joiner, T. E., Gordon, K. H., Lloyd-Richardson, E., and Prinstein, M. J. (2006). Nonsuicidal self-injury among adolescents: diagnostic correlates and relation to suicide attempts. *Psychiatry Research*, 144, 65–72.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2006.05.010

- Nock, M. K., & Mendes, W. B. (2008). Physiological arousal, distress tolerance, and social problem-solving deficits among adolescent self-injurers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(1), 28–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.1.28</u>
- Nock, M. K., & Prinstein, M. J. (2004). A functional approach to the assessment of selfmutilative behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(5), 885–890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.5.885</u>
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2001). Ruminative coping and adjustment to bereavement. In M. S. Stroebe, R. O. Hansson, W. Stroebe, & H. Schut (Eds.), *Handbook of bereavement research: Consequences, coping, and care* (pp. 545–562). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10436-023</u>
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Wisco, B.E., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2008). Rethinking rumination. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *3*(5), 400–424.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00088.x

- Olatunji, B. O., Naragon-Gainey, K., & Wolitzky-Taylor, K. B. (2013). Specificity of rumination in anxiety and depression: A multimodal meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology: Science* and Practice, 20(3), 225–257. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0101719
- Osman, A., Bagge, C. L., Gutierrez, P. M., Konick, L. C., Kopper, B. A., & Barrios, F. X.
  (2001). The Suicidal Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R): Validation with clinical and nonclinical samples. *Assessment*, 8(4), 443-54.

https://doi.org/10.1177/107319110100800409

- Otte, C., Gold, S. M., Penninx, B. W., Pariante, C. M., Etkin, A., Fava, M., Mohr, D. C., & Schatzberg, A. F. (2016). Major depressive disorder. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 2(1), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2016.65</u>
- Panayiotou, G., Karekla, M., & Leonidou, C. (2017). Coping through avoidance may explain gender disparities in anxiety. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 6(2), 215–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2017.04.005</u>
- Parker, W. D. & Adkins, K. K. (1995). A psychometric examination of the multidimensional perfectionism scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 17(4), 323– 334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02229054</u>
- Paul, E., Tsypes, A., Eidlitz, L., Ernhout, C., & Whitlock, J. (2015). Frequency and functions of non-suicidal self-injury: Associations with suicidal thoughts and behaviors. *Psychiatry Research*, 225(3), 276–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.12.026</u>
- Paulhus, D. L., & Vazire, S. (2007). The self-report method. In R. W. Robins, R. Chris Fraley, &
  R. F. Krueger (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods in personality psychology* (pp. 224-239). The Guildford Press.

Pavlov, I. P. (1927). Conditioned reflexes. Oxford University Press.

- Pedro, L., Branquinho, M., Canavarro, M. C., & Fonseca, A. (2019). Self-criticism, negative automatic thoughts and postpartum depressive symptoms: The buffering effect of selfcompassion. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 37(5), 539–553. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646838.2019.1597969
- Pepping, C. A., Davis, P. J., O'Donovan, A., & Pal, J. (2015). Individual differences in selfcompassion: The role of attachment and experiences of parenting in childhood. *Self and Identity*, 14(1), 104–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2014.955050</u>
- Per, M., Schmelefske, E., Brophy, K., Austin, S. B., & Khoury, B. (2022). Mindfulness, selfcompassion, self-injury, and suicidal thoughts and behaviors: A correlational metaanalysis. *Mindfulness*, 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-021-01815-1</u>
- Per, M., Simundic, A., Argento, A., Khoury, B., & Heath, N. (2021). Examining the relationship between mindfulness, self-compassion, and emotion regulation in self-injury. *Archives of Suicide Research*. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2021.1885534
- Piraman, M. J., Tavakoli, M., & Torkan, H. (2016). Rumination and co-rumination: Factors predicting depression. *International Journal of Educational and Psychological Research*, 2(2), 99. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2395-2296.178865</u>
- Plener, P. L., Schumacher, T. S., Munz, L. M., & Groschwitz, R. C. (2015). The longitudinal course of non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm: A systematic review of the literature. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation*, 2, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40479-014-0024-3

Pomohaibo, V. M., Berezan, O. I., & Petrushov, A. V. (2019). Genetics of major depressive

disorder. Bulletin of Problems in Biology and Medicine, 2(1), 40-45.

https://doi.org/10.29254/2077-4214-2019-1-2-149-40-45

- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879–891. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.3.879</u>
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 515–526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00076512</u>
- Prinstein, M. J., Guerry, J. D., Browne, C. B., & Rancourt, D. (2009). Interpersonal models of nonsuicidal self-injury. In M. K. Nock (Ed.), *Understanding nonsuicidal self-injury: Origins, assessment, and treatment*. (pp. 79–98). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/11875-005
- Prinstein, M. J., Nock, M. K., Simon, V., Aikins, J. W., Cheah, C. S., & Spirito, A. (2008).
  Longitudinal trajectories and predictors of adolescent suicidal ideation and attempts following inpatient hospitalization. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(1), 92-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.1.92</u>
- Raes, F. (2010). Rumination and worry as mediators of the relationship between selfcompassion and depression and anxiety. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 48, 757– 761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.01.023</u>
- Ribeiro, S. C., Kennedy, S. E., Smith, Y. R., Stohler, C. S., & Zubieta, J. K. (2005). Interface of physical and emotional stress regulation through the endogenous opioid system and μ-opioid receptors. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 29(8), 1264-1280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.08.011</u>

Rice, K. G., Suh, H., & Davis, D. E. (2017). Perfectionism and emotion regulation. In J. Stoeber

(Ed.), *The psychology of perfectionism: Theory, research, applications*. (pp. 243-262).Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.

Richmond, S., Hasking, P., & Meaney, R. (2017). Psychological distress and non-suicidal selfinjury: The mediating roles of rumination, cognitive reappraisal, and expressive suppression. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 21(1), 62-72.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2015.1008160

- Robinson, K., Brocklesby, M., Garisch, J. A., O'Connell, A., Langlands, R., Russell, L., Kingi, T., Brown, E.-J., & Wilson, M. S. (2017). Socioeconomic deprivation and non-suicidal self-injury in New Zealand adolescents: The mediating role of depression and anxiety. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *46*(3), 126–136.
- Robinson, K., Garisch, J. A., & Wilson, M. S. (2021). Nonsuicidal self-injury thoughts and behavioural characteristics: Associations with suicidal thoughts and behaviours among community adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 282, 1247–1254.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.201">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.201</a>
- Rogers, C. R. (1959). A theory of therapy, personality, and interpersonal relationships as developed in the client-centered framework. In Koch S. (Ed.), *Psychology: A Study of Science: Formulations of the Person and Social Context.* 3, 184-256. McGraw-Hill.
- Rogier, G., & Velotti, P. (2018). Conceptualizing gambling disorder with the process model of emotion regulation. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(2), 239–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.7.2018.52</u>
- Rudaz, M., Ledermann, T., Margraf, J., Becker, E. S., & Craske, M. G. (2017). The moderating role of avoidance behavior on anxiety over time: Is there a difference between social

anxiety disorder and specific phobia? PLoS ONE, 12(7).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0180298

- Rudolph, S. G., Flett, G. L., & Hewitt, P. L. (2007). Perfectionism and deficits in cognitive emotion regulation. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 25, 343–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-007-0056-3</u>
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68</u>
- Sælid, G. A., & Nordahl, H. M. (2017). Rational emotive behaviour therapy in high schools to educate in mental health and empower youth health A randomized controlled study of a brief intervention. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 46(3), 196–210.
- Sansone, R. A., Weiderman, M. W., & Sansone, L. A. (1998). The self-harm inventory (SHI): Development of a scale for identifying self-destructive behaviors and borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *54*(7), 973-983. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4679(199811)54:7<973::AID-JCLP11>3.0.CO;2-H
- Say, G. (2020). Perfectionism in major depressive disorder. *Current Approaches in Psychiatry*, *12*(4), 562-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.18863/pgy.703132</u>
- Selby, E. A., Franklin, J., Carson, W. A., & Rizvi, S. L. (2013). Emotional cascades and self injury: Investigating instability of rumination and negative emotion. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(12), 1213–1227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21966</u>
- Selby, E. A. & Joiner Jr, T. E. (2009). Cascades of emotion: The emergence of borderline personality disorder from emotional and behavioral dysregulation. *Review of General Psychology*. 13(3), 219–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015687</u>

Seligman, M. E. (1972). Learned helplessness. Annual Review of Medicine, 23(1), 407–412.

Shah, T. D., & Pol, T. (2020). Prevalence of depression and anxiety in college students. *Journal* of Mental Health and Human Behaviour, 25(1), 10-13.

https://doi.org/10.4103/jmhhb.jmhhb\_16\_20

- Sherman, N. (2014). Recovering lost goodness: Shame, guilt, and self-empathy. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, *31*(2), 217–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036435</u>
- Sherry, S. B., MacKinnon, A. L., Fossum, K.-L., Antony, M. M., Stewart, S. H., Sherry, D. L., Nealis, L. J., & Mushquash, A. R. (2013). Perfectionism, discrepancies, and depression: Testing the perfectionism social disconnection model in a short-term, four-wave longitudinal study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 54(6), 692–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.11.017
- Skinner, B. F. (1938). The behavior of organisms: An experimental analysis. Appleton-Century.
- Slabbert, A., Hasking, P., & Boyes, M. (2018). Riding the emotional roller coaster: The role of distress tolerance in nonsuicidal self-injury. *Psychiatry Research*, 269, 309–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.08.061</u>
- Smith, M. M., Saklofske, D. H., Yan, G., & Sherry, S. B. (2017). Does perfectionism predict depression, anxiety, stress, and life satisfaction after controlling for neuroticism? A study of Canadian and Chinese undergraduates. *Journal of Individual Differences*, 38(2), 63– 70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-0001/a000223</u>
- Smith, M. M., Sherry, S. B., Ray, C., Hewitt, P. L., & Flett, G. L. (2021). Is perfectionism a vulnerability factor for depressive symptoms, a complication of depressive symptoms, or both? A meta-analytic test of 67 longitudinal studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 84, 101982. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.101982</u>

- Smith, M. M., Sherry, S. B., Rnic, K., Saklofske, D. H., Enns, M., & Gralnick, T. (2016). Are perfectionism dimensions vulnerability factors for depressive symptoms after controlling for neuroticism? A meta-analysis of 10 longitudinal studies. *European Journal of Personality*, 30(2), 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2053
- Smith, M. M., Sherry, S. B., Vidovic, V., Saklofske, D. H., Stoeber, J., & Benoit, A. (2019).
   Perfectionism and the five-factor model of personality: A meta-analytic review.
   *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(4), 367-390.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318814973">https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318814973</a>
- Smith, M. M., Vidovic, V., Sherry, S. B., Stewart, S. H., & Saklofske, D. H. (2018). Are perfectionism dimensions risk factors for anxiety symptoms? A meta-analysis of 11 longitudinal studies. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 31*(1), 4-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2017.1384466
- Sornberger, M. J., Heath, N. L., Toste, J. R., & McLouth, R. (2012). Nonsuicidal self-injury and gender: Patterns of prevalence, methods, and locations among adolescents. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 42(3), 266-278.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.2012.0088.x

- Spinhoven, P., Drost, J., de Rooij, M., van Hemert, A. M., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2016). Is experiential avoidance a mediating, moderating, independent, overlapping, or proxy risk factor in the onset, relapse and maintenance of depressive disorders? *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 40(2), 150–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-015-9747-8</u>
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B., & Lowe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166(10), 1092-1097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092</u>

- Spokas, M., Luterek, J. A., & Heimberg, R. G. (2009). Social anxiety and emotional suppression: The mediating role of beliefs. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 40(2), 283-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2008.12.004</u>
- Stallman, H. M., Ohan, J. L., & Chiera, B. (2018). The role of social support, being present, and self-kindness in university student psychological distress. *Australian Psychologist*, 53(1), 52-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12271</u>
- Stefan, C. A. (2019). Self-compassion as mediator between coping and social anxiety in late adolescence: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Adolescence*, 76, 120-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.08.013
- Steimer T. (2022). The biology of fear- and anxiety-related behaviors. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 4(3), 231–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2002.4.3/tsteimer</u>
- Stoeber, J., Damian, L. E., & Madigan, D. J. (2018). Perfectionism: A motivational perspective.
  In J. Stoeber (Ed.), *The psychology of perfectionism: Theory, research, applications*. (pp. 19–43). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Stoeber, J., Noland, A. B., Mawenu, T. W., Henderson, T. M., & Kent, D. N. (2017).
   Perfectionism, social disconnection, and interpersonal hostility: Not all perfectionists don't play nicely with others. *Personality and Individual Differences, 119*, 112-117.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.07.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.07.008</a>
- Stutts, L. A., Leary, M. R., Zeveney, A. S., & Hufnagle, A. S. (2018). A longitudinal analysis of the relationship between self-compassion and the psychological effects of perceived stress. *Self and Identity*, 17(6), 609–626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2017.1422537</u>

Suh, H., & Jeong, J. (2021). Association of self-compassion with suicidal thoughts and

behaviors and non-suicidal self injury: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1487. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.633482</u>

- Suyemoto, K. L. (1998). The functions of self-mutilation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *18*(5), 531–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(97)00105-0
- Swannell, S. V., Martin, G. E., Page, A., Hasking, P., & St John, N. J. (2014). Prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury in nonclinical samples: Systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 44(3), 273–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12070
- Taliaferro, L. A., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2015). Risk factors associated with self-injurious behavior among a national sample of undergraduate college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 63(1), 40–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2014.953166</u>
- Tatnell, R., Hasking, P., Newman, L., Taffe, J., & Martin, G. (2017). Attachment, emotion regulation, childhood abuse and assault: Examining predictors of NSSI among adolescents. *Archives of Suicide Research*. 21(4), 610–620.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1246267

- Taylor, P. J., Jomar, K., Dhingra, K., Forrester, R., Shahmalak, U., & Dickson, J. M. (2018). A meta-analysis of the prevalence of different functions of non-suicidal self-injury. *Journal* of Affective Disorders. 227, 759–769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.073</u>
- Thompson, R. A. (1994). Emotion regulation: A theme in search of definition. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 59(2–3), 25–52.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1166137</u>

Tobin, R., & Dunkley, D. M. (2021). Self-critical perfectionism and lower mindfulness and self-

compassion predict anxious and depressive symptoms over two years. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *136*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2020.103780

- Tonta, K. E., Boyes, M., Howell, J., McEvoy, P., Johnson, A., & Hasking, P. (2022). Modeling pathways to non-suicidal self-injury: The roles of perfectionism, negative affect, rumination, and attention control. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 78(7), 1463–1477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.23315</u>
- Toth-Kiraly, I., & Neff, K. D. (2021). Is self-compassion universal? Support for the measurement invariance of the Self-Compassion Scale across populations. *Assessment*, 28(1), 169–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191120926232</u>
- Trainor, G., Rothwell, J., & Hales, H. (2017). Depression, self-harm and suicidal behaviour in young offenders. In S. Bailey, P. Chitsabesan, & P. Tarbuck (Eds.), *Forensic child and adolescent mental health: Meeting the needs of young offenders*. (pp. 135–151).
  Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9780511777127.013</u>
- Tran, & Rimes, K. A. (2017). Unhealthy perfectionism, negative beliefs about emotions, emotional suppression, and depression in students: A mediational analysis. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 110, 144–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.01.042
- Turner, B. J., Cobb, R. J., Gratz, K. L., & Chapman, A. L. (2016). The role of interpersonal conflict and perceived social support in nonsuicidal self-injury in daily life. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 125(4), 588–598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000141</u>
- Twohig, M. P., & Levin, M. E. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a treatment for anxiety and depression: A review. *Psychiatric Clinics*, 40(4), 751-770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2017.08.009</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, U.S. DHHS. (2020). Major depression.

National Institute of Mental Health. Retrieved from

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/major-depression

Valencia-Agudo, F., Burcher, G. C., Ezpeleta, L., & Kramer, T. (2018). Nonsuicidal self-injury in community adolescents: A systematic review of prospective predictors, mediators and moderators. *Journal of Adolescence*, 65, 25-38.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.02.012

- van der Kaap-Deeder, J., Soenens, B., Boone, L., Vandenkerckhove, B., Stemgée, E., &
  Vansteenkiste, M. (2016). Evaluative concerns perfectionism and coping with failure:
  Effects on rumination, avoidance, and acceptance. *Personality and Individual Differences, 101*, 114-119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.05.063
- Voon, D., Hasking, P., & Martin, G. (2014). Change in emotion regulation strategy use and its impact on adolescent nonsuicidal self-injury: A three-year longitudinal analysis using latent growth modeling. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *123*(3), 487–498.
   <a href="https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0037024">https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0037024</a>
- Weintraub, M. J., Van de Loo, M. M., Gitlin, M. J., & Miklowitz, D. J. (2017). Self-harm, affective traits, and psychosocial functioning in adults with depressive and bipolar disorders. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 205(11), 896–899.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000744">https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.000000000000744</a>
- Whisman, M. A., du Pont, A., & Butterworth, P. (2020). Longitudinal associations between rumination and depressive symptoms in a probability sample of adults. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 260, 680-686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.09.035</u>
- Whitlock, J., Eckenrode, J., & Silverman, D. (2006). Self-injurious behaviors in a college population. *Pediatrics*, *117*(6), 1939–1948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-2543</u>

- Whitlock, J., Muehlenkamp, J., Purington, A., Eckenrode, J., Barreira, P., Baral Abrams, G.,
  Marchell, T., Kress, V., Girard, K., Chin, C., & Knox, K. (2011). Nonsuicidal self-injury
  in a college population: General trends and sex differences. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(8), 691–698. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2010.529626
- Wilkinson, P. O., Qiu, T., Jesmont, C., Neufeld, S. A. S., Kaur, S. P., Jones, P. B., & Goodyer, I. M. (2022). Age and gender effects on non-suicidal self-injury, and their interplay with psychological distress. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 306*, 240–245.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.03.021">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.03.021</a>
- Wilcox, H. C., Arria, A. M., Caldeira, K. M., Vincent, K. B., Pinchevsky, G. M., & O'Grady, K.
  E. (2012). Longitudinal predictors of past-year non-suicidal self-injury and motives among college students. *Psychological Medicine*, 42(4), 717-726.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291711001814

- Wium, A. M. K., Dalgaard Villumsen, M., Wium, A. I. K., Jorgensen, M. B., Hjelmborg, J. B., Christensen, K., & Osler, M. (2020). Familial risk and heritability of depression by age at first diagnosis in Danish twins. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 142(6), 446–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13238
- Wolff, J. C., Thompson, E., Thomas, S. A., Nesi, J., Bettis, A. H., Ransford, B., Scopelliti, K., Frazier, E. A., & Liu, R. T. (2019). Emotion dysregulation and non-suicidal self-injury: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Psychiatry*, 59, 25-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.03.004
- Wong, M. Y. C. (2021). The importance of self-compassion in terms of self psychology. *Psychiatry International*, 2(2), 120-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/psychiatryint2020009</u>

- Wong, C. C., & Mak, W. W. (2013). Differentiating the role of three self-compassion components in buffering cognitive-personality vulnerability to depression among Chinese in Hong Kong. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60(1), 162-169.
   https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030451
- Woodfin, V., Binder, P. E., & Molde, H. (2020). The psychometric properties of the frost multidimensional perfectionism scale–brief. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1860. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01860</u>
- Woodfin, V., Molde, H., Dundas, I., & Binder, P. E. (2021). A randomized control trial of a brief self-compassion intervention for perfectionism, anxiety, depression, and body image. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 751294. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.751294</u>
- World Health Organization, WHO. (2021). *Depression*. World Health Organization. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression">https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression</a>
- World Health Organization, WHO. (2021). *Anxiety*. World Health Organization. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/mental\_health/advocacy/en/">https://www.who.int/mental\_health/advocacy/en/</a>
- Xavier, A., Pinto Gouveia, J., & Cunha, M. (2016). Non-suicidal self-injury in adolescence: The role of shame, self-criticism and fear of self-compassion. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 45(4), 571–586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-016-9346-1</u>
- Xiao, Q., Song, X., Huang, L., Hou, D., & Huang, X. (2022). Global prevalence and characteristics of non-suicidal self-injury between 2010 and 2021 among a non-clinical sample of adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 912441.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.912441">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.912441</a>

Xie, Y., Kong, Y., Yang, J., & Chen, F. (2019). Perfectionism, worry, rumination, and distress:

A meta-analysis of the evidence for the perfectionism cognition theory. *Personality and Individual Differences, 139*, 301-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.11.028</u>

- Yadavaia, J. E., Hayes, S. C., & Vilardaga, R. (2014). Using acceptance and commitment therapy to increase self-compassion: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 3(4), 248-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.09.002</u>
- Yearwood, E. L., & Bosnick, E. (2021). Deliberate self-harm: Nonsuicidal self-injury and suicide in children and adolescents. In E. L. Yearwood, G. S. Pearson, & J. A. Newland (Eds.), *Child and adolescent behavioral health: A resource for advanced practice psychiatric and primary care practitioners in nursing., 2nd ed.* (pp. 207–226). Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119487593.ch13
- Zareian, B., Wilson, J., & LeMoult, J. (2021). Cognitive control and ruminative responses to stress: understanding the different facets of cognitive control. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 660062. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.660062</u>
- Zeifman, R. J., Antony, M. M., & Kuo, J. R. (2020). When being imperfect just won't do: Exploring the relationship between perfectionism, emotion dysregulation, and suicidal ideation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 152, 109612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109612
- Zelkowitz, R. L., Porter, A. C., Heiman, E. R., & Cole, D. A. (2017). Social exposure and emotion dysregulation: Main effects in relation to nonsuicidal self-injury. *Journal of Adolescence*, 60, 94–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.07.015</u>

Zhu, L., Westers, N. J., Horton, S. E., King, J. D., Diederich, A., Stewart, S. M., & Kennard, B.

D. (2016). Frequency of exposure to and engagement in nonsuicidal self-injury among inpatient adolescents. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *20*(4), 580-590. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1162240

## VITA NATASHA MEMORIAL BOURGOIN

Education:	<ul> <li>Ph.D. Psychology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2020 – 2026</li> <li>M.S. General Clinical Psychology, Eastern Michigan University, Ypsilanti, Michigan, 2020</li> <li>B.A. Psychology, University of Maine, Orono, Maine, 2016</li> </ul>
Professional Experience:	<ul> <li>Behavioral Health Consultant, ETSU Health Family Medicine, Kingsport, Tennessee, 2024 – Present</li> <li>Neuropsychological Assessment Assistant, James H. Quillen VA Medical Center, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2024 – Present</li> <li>Graduate Research Assistant, East Tennessee State University, Department of Psychology, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2020 – Present</li> <li>Behavioral Health Consultant, ETSU Health Internal Medicine, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2023</li> <li>Behavioral Health Clinician, ETSU University Health Center, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2022 – 2023</li> <li>Graduate Student Clinician, Behavioral Health and Wellness Clinic, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2021 – 2023</li> <li>Graduate Teaching Assistant, East Tennessee State University, Department of Psychology, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2020 – 2022</li> <li>Graduate Student Clinician, Eastern Michigan University Counseling and Psychological Services, Ypsilanti, Michigan, 2019 – 2020</li> <li>Graduate Research Assistant, Eastern Michigan University, Department of Psychology, Ypsilanti, Michigan, 2018 – 2020</li> <li>Children's Case Manager, United Cerebral Palsy of Maine, Bangor, Maine, 2018</li> <li>In-Home Behavioral Health Professional, United Cerebral Palsy of Maine, Bangor, Maine, 2017 – 2018</li> <li>Research Assistant, University of Maine, Department of Psychology, Orono, Maine, 2014 – 2016</li> </ul>
Presentations:	<ul> <li>Stiglets, B., Anderson, N., Prior, K., Greenlee, M., Valencia, A.,</li> <li>Bourgoin, N., Whelan, J. &amp; Ginley, M. (2024, April).</li> <li>Scoping Review of Responsible Gambling Strategies. Poster to be presented at the 12<sup>th</sup> Annual Collaborative Perspectives on Addiction Conference, Denver, CO, United States.</li> <li>Bourgoin, N., Altier, H., King, S., Colpo, C., Chang, E., &amp; Hirsch,</li> </ul>

J. (2022, August 3-6). Social Problem-Solving and Suicide Risk in College Students: Do Increased Gratitude and Reduced Suicide Anger Expression Explain the Association? [Poster presentation]. 20<sup>th</sup> Annual International Society for Quality-of-Life Studies Conference, Burlington, VT, United States.

- Bourgoin, N., Altier, H., King, S., Chang, E., & Hirsch, J. (2022, May 26-29). Social Problem-Solving and Suicide Risk in College Students: Do Reductions in Perceived Stress and Suicide Anger Expression Explain the Association? [Poster presentation]. 34<sup>th</sup> Annual Convention of the Association for Psychological Science, Chicago, IL, United States.
- Dwyer, K., Bourgoin, N., Ludkin, T., McNulty, M., Sieja, J.,
  Chacon, A., Dolohanty, K., Smith, R., Staples, A., &
  Lawler, J. (2020, June 21-24). *Parental mental health, self-efficacy, and the mediating role of stress* [Poster presentation]. 32<sup>nd</sup> Annual Meeting of the Association for Psychological Science, Chicago, IL, United States.
- Buthman, A., Bourgoin, N., Glowina, K., & Janisse, H. (2020, April 23-25). *Changes in school readiness in low-income*, *African American preschool children* [Poster presentation].
  92<sup>nd</sup> Annual Meeting of the Midwestern Psychological Association, Chicago, IL, United States.
- Bourgoin, N. & Lawler, J. (2019, May 5-7). Social support moderator effect on the relationship between ACES and depression and its effects on child disruptive behaviors [Poster presentation]. Michigan Association for Infant Mental Health, Ypsilanti, MI, United States.
- Bourgoin, N., Buthman, A., & Janisse, H. (2019, April 11-13). Stress as a barrier to motivation for health behavior change [Poster presentation]. 91<sup>st</sup> Annual Meeting of the Midwestern Psychological Association, Chicago, IL, United States.
- Buthman, A., Bourgoin, N., Daugherty, M., & Janisse, H. (2018, November 1). Parent feeding style and BMI among lowincome, African American families [Invited oral presentation]. 2<sup>nd</sup> Annual Michigan Health Psychology Symposium, Livonia, MI, United States.

Honors	and	Awards:
--------	-----	---------

- EMU Success Scholarship, Eastern Michigan University, 2018 – 2020
  Bertha J. Thompson Scholarship, University of Maine, 2015
  Joseph A. & Mary A. Donovan Scholarship, University of Maine, 2014
  Harold M. Pierce Fund Award, University of Maine, 2013
- Harold M. Pierce Fund Award, University of Maine, 2013